#### Mikko Laaksonen

# INTERRELATIONSHIPS AMONG DAILY HEALTH BEHAVIOURS: TOWARDS HEALTH-RELATED LIFESTYLE

Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion, National Public Health Institute and Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki

> Helsinki, Finland 2002

W 85

Sij . 11

### 003093

#### Mikko Laaksonen

## INTERRELATIONSHIPS AMONG DAILY HEALTH BEHAVIOURS: TOWARDS HEALTH-RELATED LIFESTYLE

#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium XII, University Main Building, on May 28th, 2002, at 12 o'clock noon



Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion,
National Public Health Institute and
Department of Public Health,
University of Helsinki

Helsinki, Finland 2002

El finlandes piensa antes que nada en vivir bien, en comer, beber y arder, y en molestarse 10 menos posible. A Ganivet: Cartas finlandesas, 1896-97

Suomalainen ymmärtää hyvällä elämisellä ennen muuta syömistä, juomista ja polttamista ja vähintä mahdollista vaivannäköä. A Ganivet: Suomalaiskirjeita (suom. K Hirvonen)

To Katja and Zambo

#### Publications of the National Public Health Institute A6/2002

Copyright National Public Health Institute

#### Julkaisija-Utgivare-Publisher

#### **Kansanterveyslaitos (KTL)**

Mannerheimintie 166 00300 Helsinki Puh. vaihde (09) 474 41, telefax (09) 4744 8408

#### Folkhälsoinstitutet

Mannerheimvägen 166 00300 Helsingfors Tel. växel (09) 474 41, telefax (09) 4744 8408

#### **National Public Health Institute**

Mannerheimintie 166 00300 Helsinki Telephone +358 9 474 41, telefax +358 9 4744 8408

ISBN 951-740-267-8 ISSN 0359-3584

Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2002

El finlandés piensa antes que nada en vivir bien, en comer, beber y arder, y en molestarse lo menos posible. A Ganivet: Cartas finlandesas, 1896–97

Suomalainen ymmärtää hyvällä elämisellä ennen muuta syömistä, juomista ja polttamista ja vähintä mahdollista vaivannäköä. A Ganivet: Suomalaiskirjeitä (suom. K Hirvonen)

To Katja and Zambo

Supervised by: Professor Eero Lahelma

Department of Public Health

University of Helsinki

Docent Ritva Prättälä

Health Promotion Research Unit

Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion

National Public Health Institute

Docent Antti Uutela

Health Promotion Research Unit

Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion

National Public Health Institute

Reviewed by: Professor Arja Rimpelä

Tampere School of Public Health

University of Tampere

Professor Seppo Pöntinen Department of Sociology

University of Turku

### **CONTENTS**

F	Abstract	7
I	ist of original publications	9
1	Introduction	. 11
2	Conceptual background	. 13
	2.1 Health behaviour	. 13
	2.2 Sociodemographic differences in health behaviours	. 15
	2.3 Lifestyle	. 16
	2.4 Health-related lifestyle	. 19
3	Previous research on the associations between health behaviours	. 23
	3.1 Pairwise cross-sectional associations	. 23
	3.2 Pairwise longitudinal associations	. 26
	3.3 Multiple associations between health behaviours	. 28
	3.4 Previous Finnish studies	. 32
	3.5 Summary of the previous studies	. 35
4	Scope and purpose	. 36
5	Material and methods	. 38
	5.1 Data sources	. 38
	5.2 Study variables	38
	5.3 Statistical methods	40
5	Results	44
	6.1 Multiple associations among health behaviours	44
	6.1.1 Accumulation of health behaviours	44
	6.1.2 Key associations among health behaviours	46
	6.2 Sociodemographic determinants of multiple unhealthy behaviours	47
	6.3 Sociodemographic differences in the associations between health behaviours.	50
	6.4 Longitudinal associations between health behaviours	52
	6.4.1 Health behaviours as predictors of each other	
	6.4.2 Concurrent changes in health behaviours	53

7 Discussion	55
7.1 Overview of the main findings	55
7.2 Methodological considerations	59
7.3 Towards health-related lifestyle	64
7.4 Conclusions, implications and further research	
Acknowledgements	70
References	71
Appendix: original publications I–IV	

#### **ABSTRACT**

In Finland, as in other developed societies, a large proportion of deaths are attributable to a small number of health-related behaviours. Information on the occurrence of such behaviours in different subgroups of the population is essential to developing and targeting public health programmes that are aimed at altering these behaviours. While the majority of research has concentrated on one behaviour at a time, this study examines interrelationships between behaviours that contribute to multifactorial chronic diseases.

The study aims to provide a comprehensive view of the associations among daily health behaviours and sociodemographic variation in these associations among Finnish men and women during the 1990s. The behaviours are examined in a symmetric setting, so that no preference is given to any of the behaviours in advance. The study makes use of the concept of health-related lifestyle, which refers to socially structured patterns of behaviours that are relevant to health. Health-related lifestyles thus consist of a group of interrelated behaviours that are collective in the sense that they are closely linked with different sociodemographic characteristics. A number of reasons to expect that health behaviours would be interrelated can be presented. However, health behaviours also have intrinsic differences, suggesting that these behaviours might be unrelated or perhaps even inversely associated. Previous research suggests that while few people behave consistently in a healthy or unhealthy way, health behaviours are not independent of each other but tend to emerge in larger patterns. However, what these patterns might be is still largely unknown.

The data consisted of 20–64-year-old respondents to postal surveys conducted among a random sample of Finnish adults between 1991 and 1998. The annually repeated cross-sectional surveys provided 12,192 male and 13,822 female respondents. In addition, a follow-up study in 1997 among the participants in the surveys in 1989 and 1990 yielded panel data with 5081 respondents. Health behaviours included in the study were smoking, alcohol use, physical activity and dietary behaviour. In the longitudinal analyses being overweight was also examined.

Several pairwise associations between health behaviours were found. Smoking was positively associated with all unhealthy behaviours but not with being overweight. Associations between alcohol use and the other health behaviours were less clear, and for women alcohol use tended to be inversely associated with diet and overweight. Positive associations were observed between each pair of physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and overweight. However, all associations could not be reduced to pairwise associations. In both genders, a three-behaviour association between smoking, alcohol use and physical activity was found. In addition, alcohol use, physical inactivity and

unhealthy diet were associated in men. In these combinations the association between any two behaviours was different depending on the third behaviour.

Furthermore, various longitudinal associations between health behaviours were observed. Over the seven years of the follow-up, smoking at the baseline predicted all health behaviours but not being overweight in men. However, other behaviours also tended to predict smoking. In men, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet predicted each other. Overweight was not predictive of any of the unhealthy behaviours. Concurrent changes in health behaviours involved either smoking or body weight.

Although clear associations were observed between health behaviours, their distribution into different combinations was quite diverse. People behaving unhealthily in one respect were spread to numerous categories according to their other behaviours. Some combinations of unhealthy behaviours were relatively common, largely reflecting the prevalence of their individual constituents. Smoking played a central role in the associations between health behaviours. Nevertheless, the majority of smokers either only smoked or had only one additional unhealthy habit.

Sociodemographic variation in the associations between health behaviours was modest. The variation was not consistent with respect to any of the sociodemographic characteristics examined. Even when sociodemographic differences were observed, only the strength of the association varied. However, owing to an unequal sociodemographic distribution of the individual unhealthy behaviours their co-occurrence varied considerably across sociodemographic groups.

In sum, several pairwise associations between health behaviours were found both cross-sectionally and longitudinally. However, all associations could not be reduced to pairwise associations. Smoking played a primary role in determining the associations between and co-occurrence of health behaviours. Sociodemographic differences in the associations were few and the patterns of behaviour were also largely similar in men and women.

#### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I–IV):

- I Laaksonen M, Prättälä R, Karisto A. Patterns of unhealthy behaviour in Finland. European Journal of Public Health 2001;11:294–300.
- II Laaksonen M, Prättälä R, Lahelma E. Sociodemographic determinants of multiple unhealthy behaviours. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health (In press).
- III Laaksonen M, Lahelma E, Prättälä R. Associations among health-related behaviours: sociodemographic variation in Finland. Social and Preventive Medicine (SPM) (In press).
- IV Laaksonen M, Luoto R, Helakorpi S, Uutela A. Associations between health-related behaviors: a seven-year follow-up of adults. Preventive Medicine 2002;34:162–170.

The papers are reproduced with permission of the publishers: Oxford University Press (I), Taylor & Francis Group (II), Birkhäuser Publishers (III), American Health Foundation and Elsevier Science (USA) (IV).

.

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

Personal behaviours markedly contribute to chronic diseases, which in Finland, as in other developed societies, constitute the major causes of morbidity and mortality (European Commission 1996, Murray and Lopez 1996, WHO 1998). Current trends suggest that such diseases continue to present the principal public health challenge for many years to come. As a response to this challenge, modifiable health behaviours are of particular concern because much of the future improvement in population health is likely to depend on favourable developments in health behaviours. While the number of factors associated with the risk of disease or the likelihood of dying is continuously increasing, a large proportion of death and disability is attributable to a small number of health-related behaviours. These behaviours include smoking, unhealthy eating, lack of regular physical activity, excessive alcohol consumption and failure to maintain appropriate body weight (McGinnis and Foege 1993, Davis et al. 1994). Information on the occurrence of these behaviours in different subgroups of the population is essential in developing and targeting public health measures that are aimed at altering these behaviours.

It is characteristic to the major chronic diseases that they may be affected by several ways of behaviour, and each behaviour may be related to several disease outcomes. The risk of adverse health consequences rises with the increasing number of unhealthy behaviours (Berkman and Breslow 1983, Brock et al. 1988, Rotevatn et al. 1989, Segovia et al. 1991). Information on the associations between health behaviours and their co-occurrence is therefore crucial. Examining associations among health behaviours may also offer new insights to understand why people engage in these behaviours. There are a number of reasons to expect that health behaviours would be interrelated. However, health behaviours can also be assumed to be unrelated or perhaps even inversely associated. People make choices that are relevant to health but are not driven by explicit health concern. The social meanings of behaviours may not always be in agreement with a consistently healthy or unhealthy way of life. Furthermore, the prevalence of health behaviours is known to vary across sociodemographic groups. Sociodemographic differences may therefore also exist in their associations, and evidence of these differences may clarify the logic of engaging in these behaviours.

The purpose of this study is to add our knowledge about the occurrence of health-related behaviours among Finnish adults. While the majority of previous research has concentrated on one behaviour at a time, the overall view of the distribution of behaviours that are central for the major chronic diseases is incomplete. This study tries to fill that gap by examining associations between health behaviours as well as their co-occurrence across various sociodemographic groups. In previous research,

the concept of health-related lifestyle has been used to denote socially structured patterns of behaviour that are relevant to health (Dean 1988, Abel 1991, Green and Kreuter 1991, Cockerham et al. 1997). Health-related lifestyle thus consists of a group of interrelated behaviours that are collective in the sense that they are closely linked with different sociodemographic characteristics (Abel et al. 2000). The study begins with an overview of the principal constituents of the health-related lifestyle concept and the use of this concept in health behaviour research. The empirical part of the study examines associations among the daily health behaviours and sociodemographic variation in these associations in Finland during the 1990s. Associations between the behaviours are examined comprehensively in a symmetric setting, so that any of the behaviours is not preferred to the others in advance. Multiple associations among the behaviours are analysed and pairwise associations between each two behaviours are examined both cross-sectionally and longitudinally.

#### 2 CONCEPTUAL BACKGROUND

#### 2.1 Health behaviour

The factors that centrally affect health change over time. During the last decades personal behaviours have been recognised as increasingly important determinants of health status and mortality. Epidemiological and medical research carried out over the past 50 years or so has provided systematic evidence of the impact of various behavioural practices on health status and health risks (e.g. Berkman and Breslow 1983, McGinnis and Foege 1993). Such practices include, but are not limited to, smoking, alcohol and drug use, eating habits and nutrition, exercise and physical activity, sexual risk behaviours, traffic safety, and utilisation of health services and medical care. These practices can be broadly termed health behaviours.

While the contribution of behaviours to health and illness has been known for a long time, the concept of health behaviour itself is relatively late-born. The first users of the concept were Stanislav Kasl and Sidney Cobb (1966), who distinguished health behaviour from illness behaviour and sick role behaviour, defining it as "any activity undertaken by a person believing himself to be healthy, for the purpose of preventing disease or detecting it in an asymptomatic stage". Some limitations of their definition were soon pointed out: it was reminded that health behaviour did not have to be intentional and that all people engaged in some behaviours to protect their health. Although not stated in Kasl and Cobb's original definition, only medically approved preventive behaviours were commonly regarded as health behaviour (Anderson 1988). A broader definition (Harris and Guten 1979) considered health behaviour to be any behaviour of a person, regardless of his or her perceived or actual health status, which was aimed to protect, promote or maintain his or her health, whether such behaviour was objectively effective or not.

Several divisions of health behaviour into subtypes have been suggested. One commonly adopted classification separates health-enhancing behaviours, health-maintaining behaviours and health-damaging behaviours (McQueen 1987, RUHBC 1989). Health-enhancing behaviours are consciously undertaken in order to improve health, health-maintaining behaviours are related to prevention, and health-damaging behaviours refer to harmful behaviours, such as the traditional behavioural "risk factors" for disease. In other divisions a similar distinction has also been made between conscious attempts to maintain or improve health or to prevent illness and behaviours which do not need to be intentionally health-striven, but which as regular practices of everyday life may have direct or indirect implications for health (Kickbusch 1988, Noack 1988, Dean 1989).

The above division into three subtypes also separates health-promoting behaviours from health risk behaviours. A similar division has also been commonly made elsewhere (e.g. Rakowski 1986, Waldron 1988). However, since health risk behaviours may be inverse counterparts of health-promoting behaviours, this division seems somewhat problematic. For example, smoking is regarded as harmful whereas smoking cessation or non-smoking are health promoting, and having regular physical activity is beneficial whereas sedentary behaviour is harmful. A related, equally debatable division exists between active and passive health behaviours (Gochman 1988, Krick and Sobal 1990, Karvonen 1997). Some behaviours may be labelled as health-enhancing even when they do not require active involvement or when the behaviour actually means refraining from that behaviour. In addition, many other divisions have been suggested. For example, health behaviours have been classified by their recurrence: while some behaviours require daily repetition, others are practised periodically and some may be performed only once in a lifetime (Kannas 1981, Ungemack 1994, Liang et al. 1999).

However, at the same time as these behaviours affect health and illness they also have other qualities. Many factors other than health concern influence choices that have relevance to health. All behaviours are culturally embedded and they carry various meanings. Behaviours that are relevant to health may therefore be guided by motives other than the desire to stay in good health. What health professionals consider healthy or unhealthy may have other meanings for people in the context of their everyday lives (Thorogood 1992, Calnan 1994, Lupton 1994, Davison and Davey Smith 1995, Backett and Davison 1995). Furthermore, behaviours that have adverse health consequences may also have positive connections. People may choose to engage in harmful behaviours consciously and while being well aware of their health-damaging effects, for example as a means of controlling stress or dealing with adverse material and social circumstances (Rahkonen 1994, Piispa 1997). Unhealthy behaviour may even be intentional counter-articulation and symbolic protest against the dominant way of life (Karisto 1989, Karisto et al. 1993).

Health-related choices can be deliberately and consciously made rational decisions. However, this is not always the case. A large part of our behaviour is routine and conducted more or less unthinkingly. Many choices that are relevant to health are built into the flow of everyday life so that people do not give them much thought. Furthermore, even when decisions are deliberately made people do not necessarily rationalise their behaviour on the basis of health – or any other single value (Stott and Pill 1992, Williams 1995).

The different forms of health behaviour have mostly been examined one at a time. However, the above considerations give reasons to expect that health behaviours may be interrelated. Health behaviours may reflect broader health consciousness or

attitudes towards health. The existence of a common health concern suggests consistency in healthy or unhealthy behaviour. During the last decades, the cultural value of health has increased and health issues have attracted a wide public attention, suggesting that the number of health-oriented people may have augmented (Karisto et al. 1993, Burrows et al. 1995). However, health behaviours may also be interrelated because of their other qualities. Other motives for healthy or unhealthy behaviour may even be more important than the health concern itself. At the same time, all health behaviours cannot be expected to be interrelated in a theoretically meaningful way. Health-related behaviours also have intrinsic differences, suggesting that these behaviours would be unrelated or perhaps even inversely associated. Motives for engaging in health-promoting or health-damaging behaviours are often mixed and remain unperceived even for those who practise them. The other meanings that health-related behaviours have may not always be in agreement with a consistently healthy or unhealthy way of life.

#### 2.2 Sociodemographic differences in health behaviours

Many theoretical approaches to health behaviour have been criticised for detaching it from the social and situational context in which it occurs (RUHBC 1989, Thorogood 1992). Social factors are given, at best, a limited role while these approaches concentrate on the more proximal causes of behaviour. However, health behaviour should not only be seen as a matter of individual choice that is unrelated to socioeconomic circumstances and structural conditions. Instead, health behaviour is socially and culturally conditioned and needs to be placed in a broader perspective that emphasises structural constraints as well as individual choices.

Evidence of the influence of social conditions on health behaviours is abundant. One expression of this evidence can be found at the level of broad sociodemographic categories. Health behaviours show clear differences in characteristics such as gender, age, socio-economic position, marital status and area of residence. In Finland, as in most industrialised countries, women generally behave more healthily than men, but have less free-time physical activity (Arinen et al. 1998, Aromaa et al. 1999, Helakorpi et al. 2000). Those in lower socio-economic positions engage in unhealthy behaviours more frequently than the better-off. The only important exception is alcohol consumption, as those in higher socio-economic positions generally drink more frequently and more on average than those in lower positions. Smoking and high alcohol use are more common but physical inactivity less common in younger than in older age groups. Divorced and widowed people usually behave in a more unhealthy manner than the single, who in turn behave more unhealthily than the married. Differences between living areas are relatively small and inconsistent, but they cannot be entirely explained by individual characteristics of the residents (Karvonen 1997, Berg 2000).

Sociodemographic differences in health behaviours may be due to a variety of reasons. People belonging to the different sociodemographic groups may differ in their personal characteristics or the differences may arise from the social and cultural environment itself (Umberson 1992, Macintyre et al. 1993, Macintyre 1997). Sociodemographic groups differ in the range of options for health behaviours that are possible and appropriate. The resources and constraints that limit or enable health behaviours can be considered in terms of material circumstances, but also in terms of customs and traditions. The social living environment may provide specific cultural norms that determine appropriate behaviours. Consequently, health behaviours of people who occupy different sociodemographic positions are in various ways determined by their background and experiences, resources and group membership.

Since the prevalence of individual health behaviours varies across sociodemographic groups, it is plausible to assume that sociodemographic variation can also be found in their associations. Health behaviours can be considered to be associated if those with one unhealthy behaviour are also more likely to engage in other unhealthy behaviours than those who behave healthily. While these associations can also be examined within the sociodemographic groups, individual-level associations should be distinguished from the co-occurrence of unhealthy behaviours at the collective level, which is affected by both the individual-level associations and the prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours in the sociodemographic groups. The co-occurrence of unhealthy behaviours reveals the sociodemographic groups in which behaving in an unhealthy manner in several respects is frequent. However, this does not exclude the possibility of polarisation within sociodemographic groups: the same groups in which unhealthy behaviours tend to co-occur may also include subgroups of people who behave consistently in a healthy manner.

#### 2.3 Lifestyle

The concept of health-related lifestyle has its background in the general sociological lifestyle discussion. In sociological theory, lifestyles refer to distinctive patterns of behaviour that differentiate people. In most definitions, lifestyles consist of a set of activities or behaviours that make sense or are compatible. Lifestyles thus refer to patterns of human behaviour that have a certain degree of coherence (Veal 1993, Chaney 1996). The concept of lifestyle is often used interchangeably with the concept of way of life. While lifestyles can be examined at the level of individuals, social groups and whole societies (Lööv and Miegel 1990, Veal 1993), the present study concentrates on such uses of the concept that are ultimately interested in differences and similarities between large social categories.

Among the early theorists who used the concept of lifestyle, the work of Max Weber has been most influential. In his theory of stratification, Weber (1978, orig. 1922)

made a division between social classes and status groups. Social classes are based on economic relationships whereas status groups are based on honour or prestige accorded to them by other groups. Social classes and status groups often overlap, but people's position in production and their resulting material living conditions do not determine their social status. Lifestyles are based on what people consume rather than on what they produce. Social status is expressed by having a specific lifestyle, and status groups are aggregates of the people who share a similar lifestyle. Weber made a distinction between life conduct and life chances as two constituents of lifestyle (see Abel 1991, Cockerham et al. 1997). Life conduct refers to people's choices in their selection of lifestyle and life chances to structural conditions restricting these choices. In realising lifestyles, Weber regarded choices as more important but influenced by structural conditions. Thus, people have freedom to choose their lifestyle within the boundaries set by the social constraints of their life chances.

Another often cited theorist who also used the concept of lifestyle in the context of social stratification is Pierre Bourdieu. According to Bourdieu (1984), objective conditions of existence together with one's position in the social structure produce "the habitus", a system of persistent attitudes and orientations (dispositions), which acts as a common generative principle of practices. Lifestyles are the product of habitus, which is expressed in and through taste. Bourdieu's primary interest was in the symbolic struggle for power between different class fractions or status groups. People who belong to the same class fractions share similar experiences and material circumstances, and their lifestyle choices reflect the position in the class structure, and simultaneously reproduce class differences. The classes seek to maintain and improve their social position by adopting and following lifestyles that are culturally and symbolically valued. Especially the new middle classes try to distinguish themselves from the lower classes with their lifestyle choices. Taste is the practical operator used in transforming things into distinctive signs, and taste and distaste for cultural objects characterise status groups. Taste is consciously perceived only to a certain extent. As lifestyles are ultimately reducible to the habitus, they are relatively coherent and stable.

In a framework presented by Erik Allardt (1986), the concept of lifestyle is differently located than in the above two theories. As opposed to Weber and Bourdieu, who regarded lifestyles as a set of practices that consists of socially and economically conditioned choices, Allardt names lifestyle as one of the three determinants of choices. The other two alternatives on which people base their everyday choices are reflection and fashion. Choices are based on lifestyle when an individual follows internalised routines and habits. Reflection refers to rational comparison of available options, and choices resting on fashion are affected by external influences. All of these three alternatives appear in every society and are mixed in each individual's decisions. The interrelationships between lifestyle, reflection and fashion can be

described through three dimensions, which are: rationality-irrationality, consciousness-unconsciousness and stability-instability. Choices following lifestyle are unconscious and stable, but can consist of both rational and irrational practices. Reflection is conscious and rational, but varies in its stability. Fashion is characterised by instability and irrationality, and it is sometimes followed consciously and sometimes unconsciously. Thus, the concept of lifestyle is best suited to describe practices that are stable and persistent, and that are followed unconsciously and unthinkingly. Lifestyle cannot be explained by referring to external influences or rational reflection. People can change their lifestyle, however, if forced by external factors or rational arguments.

Lifestyle has been a central concept also in the recent sociological developments, where this concept has been especially related to the post-industrial society. In the past social position, occupation and place of residence largely determined how people lived and who they were. It has been argued that today lifestyle has replaced social position as the main source of identity. People are freer to choose their lifestyles, as both the situations of choice and the options available have continuously expanded (Coreil and Levin 1985, Chaney 1996). The choices of everyday life are less dependent on the structural constraints, and people have to make choices in situations in which their ancestors used to follow norms and traditions. People do not only follow lifestyles, but are forced to do so, they have "no choice but to choose" (Giddens 1991). Lifestyle choices largely become visible in consumption, which constitutes a basic means of self-expression and identity formation. The concept of consumption not only refers to the purchase of material commodities but also to broader choices and practices that are related to obtaining and using symbolic goods. Social and cultural meanings attached to commodities are important for shaping self-identity (Giddens 1991, Chaney 1996).

Anthony Giddens (1991) defines lifestyles as a more or less integrated set of routinised practices which an individual embraces in the course of everyday life. Lifestyles are routinised practices, i.e. the routines incorporated into habits. However, these routines are reflexively open to change as self-identity is continuously transforming and developing. Each small decision a person makes affects to such routines. Despite the large number of choices people have to make, the overall lifestyle patterns are less diverse than the plurality of alternatives would suggest. A lifestyle involves a cluster of habits and orientations that have a certain unity. Moreover, although individuals have gained more freedom to choose and create their own specific lifestyles, this does not mean that their social positions no longer played a significant role in the forming of lifestyles. All choices are not equally open to everyone. This view is supported by empirical studies which suggest that collective styles of consumption persist and they continue to be grounded socially (e.g. Warde 1997). While traditional social categories may be less attractive to people with individualistic lifestyles, their

ways of behaviour are still influenced by socio-economic circumstances and different kinds of social relationships. However, it has been argued that societies are producing new types of groups less strongly linked with social classes (Bauman 1993, Maffesoli 1996) or that new middle classes are becoming fragmented and these fractions cannot be ranked hierarchically (Warde 1997, Wynne 1998). Hence, rather than explaining lifestyle differences between predefined social categories, attempts have been made to identify social groups on the basis of their lifestyle choices (Wynne 1998, see O'Brien 1995).

#### 2.4 Health-related lifestyle

The concept of lifestyle, referring to the whole of actions and their external conditions, first appeared into the health behaviour research in the 1970s, when the analysis of individual health behaviours was extended to the analysis of clustering of harmful behaviours and their determinants (Wold 1989). As adopted by the WHO (1986), lifestyle refers to "a general way of living based on the interplay between living conditions in the wide sense and individual patterns of behaviour as determined by sociocultural factors and personal characteristics". This definition implies focusing on broad patterns of behaviour instead of a limited number of practices examined separately. It contrasts sharply with the more widespread use of the lifestyle concept, which refers simply to discrete unhealthy behaviours or an aggregation of such behaviours (Elämäntavan terveystutkimuksen... 1980, Coreil et al. 1985, Aarø et al. 1986). Kathryn Dean (1989) has proposed that the concept of lifestyle should be reserved for patterns of behaviour that cluster together and interact with cultural, social and psychosocial factors whereas discrete health-related practices were more appropriately termed self-care behaviours. Lifestyle research would thus concentrate on interrelationships between health-related behaviours and the interacting social and situational factors that influence them (Dean 1988, Dean et al. 1995).

In the 1990s, the concept of health-related lifestyle was elaborated by Thomas Abel and William C. Cockerham. According to their most recent definition (Cockerham et al. 1997), health-related lifestyles are "collective patterns of health-related behaviour based on choices from options available to people according to their life chances". Their notion rests strongly on the separation of life choices and life chances, proposed by Weber as the two factors producing lifestyles (Abel 1991, Cockerham et al. 1997). Life chances and life choices are distinct but interdependent components of lifestyles, referring to socio-structural conditions and individuals' choices. Health-related lifestyles are open to individual choice but restricted by the options people have in their current situations of life. However, health behaviour choices may also influence life chances (Abel 1991, Cockerham et al. 1997).

Health-related lifestyles, generated by the interplay between choices and chances, may include behaviours with both adverse and beneficial health consequences. Nevertheless, health-related lifestyles are not just collections of discrete behaviours but they form overall patterns of practices which have unity and consistency (Cockerham et al. 1997, Cockerham 2000). These practices include contact with the medical profession for preventive health care and routine check-ups, but the majority of the activities take place outside the health care setting. For most people, health-related lifestyles involve decisions concerning daily activities, such as diet, exercise, smoking, drinking and drug use (Cockerham et al. 1997). Health-related lifestyles may include behaviours that have been scientifically shown to have implications for health but also behaviours that are considered important by lay people. The behaviours do not have to be intentionally conducive to health or avoidance of illness (Abel et al. 2000). Apart from behaviours, values, attitudes and orientations may also be considered equally important constituents of health-related lifestyles (Abel 1991, Abel et al. 2000).

According to Abel and Cockerham, health-related lifestyles are ultimately collective attributes (Abel 1991, Cockerham et al. 1997). Consequently, an appropriate strategy to examine health-related lifestyles is to identify patterns of health behaviour in relation to social groups that practise and reproduce them. Life chances constraining choices are mainly, but not entirely, socio-economic. Since the concept of lifestyle has its historical origins in the social stratification theory, other forms of social division, such as gender, age, race, ethnicity and religion, have often been neglected. However, these factors can markedly contribute to the performance of health behaviours and may even exceed the influence of social class, and should therefore be considered in relation to health-related lifestyles (Cockerham et al. 1997, Cockerham 2000).

The earlier sociological discussion on lifestyle as well as that on health behaviour provide material to further consider the use of the lifestyle concept in the context of health behaviour. The question about the relative importance of external structural factors and free individual choice is prominent. While the early conceptualisations of lifestyles emphasised structural determinants and constraints of choice, several contemporary scholars emphasise the role of personal choice and reflexive control (see O'Brien 1995, Williams 1995). It has been argued that the importance of lifestyle as a discriminator between social groups would have increased, while the influence of traditional social groupings and especially that of social class would have diminished. Concepts such as social class and gender have been claimed to have lost at least some of their explanatory power. However, empirical studies conducted in Finland and elsewhere indicate clear differences between sociodemographic groups in their health status and health behaviours (Cavelaars 1998, Aromaa et al. 1999). It is therefore justified to examine differences in health behaviours and their patterns

across population subgroups. As the concept of lifestyle inherently means ways or styles of living that are not the same for all people (Dean et al. 1995), socio-demographic groups form an important level of analysing health behaviour.

In the previous discussion another contrast exists between the views that emphasise deliberate choice and those that attach greater importance to routines. Conscious decision making and routines may be considered two extremes of a continuum. The more routinised practices are concerned, the smaller is the role of reflection and rationality. Arguably, routines play a major role in the everyday conduct. Frequent actions are likely to be more routinised than those practised occasionally. Behaviours that are frequently repeated do not require conscious commitment since they have become routinised habits (Stott and Pill 1992, Ilmonen 1998). While active choice may be important in the adoption of behaviours, the behaviours that have become established occur as part of the routines of everyday life. Many behaviours are practised unconsciously and unthinkingly but sometimes choices are made purposefully. At the same time, however, lifestyles do not only follow from constrained and routinised choices. As pointed out by Allardt (1986), choices are also expressions of lifestyles. Lifestyles can thus be seen as both determinants of choices and determined by choices. While choices are based on lifestyles, these choices at the same time reproduce lifestyles.

Both of the above polarisations involve individual choice. First, choice is seen as an opposite to external structural conditions. Second, choice is placed as an opposite to routines. These same dimensions that appear in the debate about lifestyles are present in the sociological critiques of health promotion (RUHBC 1989, Thorogood 1992). On the one hand, health promotion has been argued to emphasise individual choice and overlook structural factors that constrain them. On the other hand, health promotion has been claimed to place too much emphasis on active individual choice at the expense of routines and non-reflection.

The Weberian conceptualisation of health-related lifestyles is largely reduced to the division between life choices and life chances. In doing so, it tends to overemphasise rational and formal choice of behaviour, with the structural constraints posed by life chances as its dialectical opposite (Cockerham et al. 1993, Cockerham et al. 1997). Although it has been conceded that factors such as addictions and habits may influence health behaviour (Cockerham et al. 1993, Abel et al. 2000), this view would benefit from placing more emphasis on the non-rational and unconscious aspects of health behaviours.

What is characteristic of the general sociological lifestyle concept is its comprehensiveness. It has the objective to embrace actions that occur in any central domain of life and to consider them in relation to each other. In addition, the comprehensiveness

appears in the ambition to take into account external conditions of these actions (Karisto 1984, Chaney 1996). Following the general lifestyle concept, the concept of health-related lifestyle leads to an approach that examines the entity of health-relevant behaviour and its external conditions. As health behaviour is seen as a whole and influenced by its social and situational context, the notion of health-related lifestyle draws specific attention to the non-health-related meanings of these behaviours and to people's motives for engaging in these behaviours as part of their everyday life. The health-related lifestyle approach implies that it is not sufficient to examine each behaviour on its own. In accordance with this approach, the present study will reach beyond individual behaviours by examining interrelationships among health behaviours and the consistency of these interrelationships across broad sociodemographic categories.

Ideally, the research on health-related lifestyles should not be restricted to a limited number of practices (Dean et al. 1995). However, almost every action can have real or alleged implications for health, whether these implications are beneficial or detrimental. It is difficult to separate actions that are significantly related to health from those that are not. Moreover, since health-related actions can have various other meanings (Roos 1989, Backett and Davison 1995), it is difficult to justify concentration on health behaviour as an area on its own right. Health-related lifestyles should therefore be understood as lifestyles applied to health behaviour rather than lifestyles restricted to health behaviour. In empirical research, some criteria besides the supposed health effects have to be used in selecting the behaviours that are taken under examination. In the present study the approach outlined by the health-related lifestyle concept will be applied to behaviours practised on a daily basis.

## 3 PREVIOUS RESEARCH ON THE ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN HEALTH BEHAVIOURS

This review of literature focuses on the associations among daily health behaviours, namely smoking, alcohol use, physical inactivity, different aspects of unhealthy diet as well as being overweight. A vast majority of previous research has examined pairwise associations between two of these behaviours. Here, the pairwise associations are first considered rather extensively as they lay the basis for a more sophisticated examination. Furthermore, examining several pairs of behaviour in parallel is advantageous since the results of each pair provide perspective for evaluating the significance of the findings concerning all other pairs. Examining associations systematically in all possible pairs of behaviours also establishes a general view of their patterning.

Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies are viewed separately. While a wealth of cross-sectional studies have been conducted, the evidence gathered from longitudinal studies is limited. Longitudinal studies are further divided into those examining one behaviour as a predictor of the others and those examining concurrent changes in the behaviours. Finally, studies on multiple associations among the behaviours are considered. Preference is given to observational studies on the general adult population. The review is restricted to western industrialised countries, but while previous Finnish studies are considered separately, an effort to distinguish other cultural settings will not be made. Emphasis is placed on the latest research, and review articles are used when they are available.

#### 3.1 Pairwise cross-sectional associations

A positive association between smoking and drinking has been repeatedly observed, although studies on the general population are relatively rare (Istvan and Matarazzo 1984, Bien and Burge 1990, Shiffman and Balabanis 1995). Some evidence suggests that the association may be slightly stronger among women. The association has not only been observed between smoking and drinking but also between the amount of smoking and the amount of drinking, and the association seems to become stronger as the volumes of smoking and drinking increase. Explanations proposed for the association have been mainly physiological but also the influence of psychological and social factors has been supported (Bien and Burge 1990, Shiffman and Balabanis 1995).

Recent reviews generally lend support to a modest inverse association between smoking and leisure-time physical activity. The association may be somewhat stronger

among men (Blair et al. 1990, Wankel and Sefton 1994, Johnson et al. 1995). However, a number of studies report no association between these behaviours. This inconsistency may reflect true differences across populations but may also result from flaws in the measurement. Assessing the involvement in physical activity, in particular, has been problematic. The reviews suggest that the inverse association may be stronger for vigorous physical activity than for overall physical activity, whereas smoking status and the number of cigarettes smoked per day have provided similar results (Blair et al. 1985, Wankel and Sefton 1994).

In general, smokers have unhealthier diets than non-smokers do. Most studies report slightly higher intake of energy for smokers than non-smokers, but the pattern may be less clear for women (Perkins 1992, Thompson et al. 1992, Dallongeville et al. 1998). Smokers consume more total fat and saturated fat but less polyunsaturated fat than non-smokers. In Britain, Whichelow (1989) examined social class differences in the type of fat used on bread between smoking categories and found that these differences were partly inverse between men and women. Smokers also have lower intake of fruit, vegetables and wholemeal bread than non-smokers (Thompson et al. 1992, Dallongeville et al. 1998). Consequently, smokers have lower intake of antioxidants, especially vitamin E, vitamin C and beta-carotene (Dallongeville et al. 1998, Marangon et al. 1998, Ma et al. 2000) and dietary fibre (Thompson et al. 1992, Dallongeville et al. 1998) than non-smokers. In protein and carbohydrate intake, differences between smokers and non-smokers are relatively small (Thompson et al. 1992, Dallongeville et al. 1998). Ex-smokers place themselves as an intermediate group between current smokers and never-smokers, with increasing resemblance to never-smokers as time since quitting increases (Bolton-Smith et al. 1993, Morabia et al. 1999).

Average body weight and the prevalence of overweight are lowest among current smokers, intermediate among never-smokers and highest among ex-smokers (Klesges et al. 1989, Leischow and Stitzer 1991, Perkins 1993). However, heavy smokers have body weights approaching those of never-smokers (Klesges et al. 1989), and in two studies (Molarius and Seidell 1997, Laaksonen et al. 1998) the association between smoking and body weight varied according to educational level: smokers weighed less than never-smokers only among the less educated whereas among the better educated an opposite association was observed. These findings suggest that social and behavioural factors may modify the relationship between smoking and body weight. Weight differences between smokers and non-smokers may be larger in women than in men. Also the finding that ex-smokers have a higher body weight than never-smokers has been more consistent among men than among women (Klesges et al. 1989, Molarius et al. 1997).

Studies on the association between alcohol consumption and physical activity are few and their findings inconsistent. Most studies have not found an association

between the two behaviours. When observed, a positive association has been more commonly reported than an inverse association (Blair et al. 1985, Wankel and Sefton 1994, Johnson et al. 1995, Steptoe et al. 1997).

Studies on the association between alcohol use and dietary habits are also sparse. The findings are inconsistent and the associations observed generally moderate. An inverse association has been observed between alcohol use and fruit and vegetable consumption (La Vecchia et al. 1992, Serdula et al. 1996, Agudo et al. 1999). Drinking has been found to be inversely associated with the intake of carbohydrates (Hellerstedt et al. 1990) while a positive association between alcohol use and fat consumption has been observed in several but not in all studies (Hellerstedt et al. 1990, La Vecchia et al. 1992, Veenstra et al. 1993). Increased energy intake has been observed among higher alcohol users, partly reflecting the energy contained in alcohol itself. The findings on whether the energy derived from alcohol is compensated by lower energy intake from other sources are inconsistent (Hellerstedt et al. 1990, Colditz et al. 1991, La Vecchia et al. 1992, Veenstra et al. 1993), but a recent review suggests that among moderate drinkers energy derived from alcohol is added to the diet (Suter et al. 1997).

Alcohol has a high caloric density and it is a considerable source of energy. Experimental evidence suggests that alcohol consumption may have a significant influence on body weight and obesity. Epidemiological evidence, in contrast, remains inconclusive, which may be due to methodological flaws, but also a number of other behavioural practices may confound this relationship (Suter et al. 1997). Alcohol may be more strongly associated with body weight in women than in men. Several studies have reported an inverse association between alcohol use and body weight for women and a weaker positive association for men (Hellerstedt et al. 1990).

Energy intake is positively associated with physical activity, but few studies have examined the association between physical activity and dietary composition in the general population (Blair et al. 1985, Wankel and Sefton 1994). Recent studies suggest that active people more often than the sedentary have a better overall quality of diet (Wankel and Sefton 1994, Matthews et al. 1997), including lower intake of fat (Eaton et al. 1993, Simoes et al. 1995, Matthews et al. 1997, Johansson and Andersen 1998, Boutelle et al. 2000) and higher intake of fruit and vegetables (Eaton et al. 1993, Serdula et al. 1996, Matthews et al. 1997, Johansson and Andersen 1998, Agudo et al. 1999).

Although genetic factors may predispose people to overweight, energy derived from diet and energy expenditure by means of physical activity are fundamental in regulating body weight. Both high-energy diet and lack of physical activity have been found to be independently associated with overweight (Van Zant 1992, WHO

1998, Astrup 1999, Martínez-González et al. 1999). Ecological studies suggest that sedentary behaviour may be the main determinant of increased prevalence of overweight and obesity in the affluent societies (Prentice and Jebb 1995, Fogelholm et al. 1996, Jebb and Moore 1999). Nevertheless, other studies suggest that recreational physical activity, such as participation in vigorous exercise or sports, would have only a modest effect on body weight independently of dietary behaviour (Van Zant 1992, Zelasko 1995, Wilmore 1996, Tremblay et al. 1999). The measure of diet has usually been the total energy intake or the percentage of energy derived from fat. Measures based on other macronutrients such as carbohydrates and protein have also been sometimes used, whereas studies examining the association between body weight and specific food preferences have been sparse. Fat content of the diet has been considered the primary determinant of body fatness (Rolls and Shide 1992, Mela 1996, Doucet and Tremblay 1997, WHO 1998), while the association between carbohydrate intake and body weight seems to be inverse (Doucet and Tremblay 1997, Astrup 1999). Several mechanisms have been proposed to support a causal role of physical activity in regulating body weight (Van Zant 1992, Wilmore 1996, Horton and Hill 1998), but also the possibility that infrequent physical activity would be a consequence of overweight has been put forward (Hosmer and Lemeshow 1989, Williamson et al. 1993).

#### 3.2 Pairwise longitudinal associations

An association between two behaviours can become existent if one behaviour leads to the other or if the behaviours follow from common antecedents. Longitudinal studies may shed more light on how the associations between health behaviours arise by showing the order in which the behaviours are adopted. However, establishing a causal link between the behaviours would also call for some assumption of the mechanism by which one behaviour may lead to another.

Alcohol use seems to predict uptake of smoking (Shiffman and Balabanis 1995), but the evidence of other behaviours being predictors of smoking initiation is limited. Drinking may also restrain smoking cessation. This latter association was also observed in two recent Danish studies that examined other health behaviours as predictors of smoking cessation. In one study (Osler et al. 1999), lower alcohol use in both genders and being overweight in women predicted smoking cessation, whereas physical activity proved not to be a statistically significant predictor of subsequent quitting. The other study (Osler and Prescott 1998) demonstrated a tendency for both lower alcohol use and physical activity to increase the likelihood of successful smoking cessation, but only alcohol use reached borderline statistical significance.

Smoking has been found to predict initiation of alcohol use. The interrelationship between the initiation of smoking and drinking may thus be bidirectional: the use of

either one of these substances is likely to increase the risk of starting the other (Shiffman and Balabanis 1995, Dawson 2000). Studies examining other behaviours as predictors of alcohol use could not be found.

Sallis and co-workers examined other health behaviours as predictors of the adoption and maintenance of physical activity, and the results were mostly disproving. In men, adopters of moderate physical activity were leaner (Sallis et al. 1986) and those who were active at the baseline but sedentary in the follow-up weighed more (Sallis et al. 1992). Men who were intermediately active at the baseline but sedentary in the follow-up, and women who remained sedentary, smoked more often at the baseline (Sallis et al. 1992).

Prevost and co-workers (1997) identified four dietary components and examined whether other behaviours were predictive of subsequent changes in these components over the period of seven years. Fresh foods (fruit and salads), high-fibre foods (fruit, vegetables and "brown" bread), and low-fat spread and milk comprised the first component. Smoking was associated with changes in this component in both genders, as non-smokers improved their diet more than smokers did. In addition, moderately drinking men had the greatest improvement in their diet. Inactivity and overweight were not included in the study.

As opposed to what might have been expected on the basis of experimental studies, in a review of prospective observational studies physical activity and diet turned out to be only weak and inconsistent predictors of weight change (Williamson 1996). In most of the studies reviewed the measure of diet was the total energy intake or the percentage of energy from fat. Another review (DiPietro 1999) suggests that while regular physical activity may reduce weight gain that tends to occur with the advancing age, it has little effect in promoting weight loss. Neither was smoking predictive of subsequent weight change (Klesges et al. 1992), while a number of epidemiological studies suggest that alcohol consumption may increase the risk of weight gain (Suter et al. 1997).

Few studies have examined concurrent changes in health behaviours among the general adult population. Changes accompanying smoking cessation have been observed in diet, but these changes may be temporary: eating tends to increase during the first weeks after smoking cessation but may return to pre-cessation levels with continuing abstinence (Perkins 1992). Furthermore, changes in the contents of the diet are less clear. Two population-based studies (Perkins et al. 1993, French et al. 1996) have systematically examined how changes in diet and other health behaviours are related to smoking cessation, showing parallel results. In both studies those who quit smoking increased physical activity more often than persistent smokers, but no difference was observed in alcohol use or the contents of the diet. However, a study

on correlates of dietary change (Prevost et al. 1997) found that quitters improved their diets more than persistent smokers, and smoking initiators had smaller improvements in their diets than those who remained non-smokers.

An inverse association between smoking and body weight has been well established in longitudinal studies: weight usually increases among smokers who quit, and those who initiate smoking tend to lose weight. Weight gain occurs in most quitters, but there is some controversy over its magnitude and stability (Klesges et al. 1989, Chen et al. 1993, Froom et al. 1998). On average, the amount of weight gained is only a few kilograms (Klesges et al. 1989, Froom et al. 1998) although a recent study on continuous abstainers arrived at a larger figure (Klesges et al. 1997). The weight gain may be higher among women, younger people and those who smoked more before quitting (Williamson et al. 1991, Froom et al. 1998). The increase appears to be primarily due to a change in energy intake, while physical activity has only a minor modifying effect, and the role of resting metabolism remains controversial (Klesges et al. 1989, Leischow and Stitzer 1991, Perkins 1993).

Previous studies have not observed an association between changes in alcohol use and body weight in either men or women (Klesges et al. 1992, French et al. 1994). Similarly, changes in physical activity are not accompanied by changes in alcohol use (Blair et al. 1985). Results on concurrent changes in alcohol use and diet are not available.

Longitudinal studies suggest that changes in energy expenditure through physical activity are not compensated by changes in energy intake in the short term. Long-term results have also failed to demonstrate the total adjustment of energy intake in response to increased physical activity, which is both counter-intuitive and contrasts the findings of cross-sectional studies. Studies on food preferences are few, but some evidence supports increased intake of carbohydrates after sustained increase in physical activity (King 1998). Few observational studies among the general adult population have examined whether these two behaviours, physical activity and diet, are associated with body weight. Most studies on physical activity and body weight show an inverse association. Instead, the results on diet and body weight are inconsistent but in general fail to repeat the positive association found in experimental studies (Williamson 1996, Jebb and Moore 1999).

#### 3.3 Multiple associations between health behaviours

The first approach examining multiple health behaviours in relation to health summarised the behaviours in an additive index. This was first done within the Alameda County Study, conducted in California, USA. According to Slater and Linder

(1988), this simple measure "rendered the first scientifically compelling portrait of a 'healthful lifestyle'". The Alameda County Study included seven everyday health practices that supposedly affected health and longevity. These were never having smoked, never drinking to excess, getting adequate sleep, having regular exercise, controlling weight, not eating between meals, and eating breakfast. In the first analyses, all of the seven health practices showed a strong relationship with physical health status in cross-sectional analyses (Belloc and Breslow 1972) and were related to the future mortality risk (Belloc 1973, Breslow and Enström 1980). Later, five of these practices (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity, sleeping and weight control) were found to predict morbidity over nine years (Wiley and Camacho 1980) and to be independently associated with subsequent mortality (Wingard et al. 1982), whereas eating breakfast and snacking did not have any independent effects. Not only did these behaviours predict mortality individually, but their effects seemed to be additive: the more positive behaviours a person followed, the greater the benefits. The results were interpreted to suggest that health behaviours reflected a unitary dimension, and health education was assigned to convince people to adopt as many positive practices as possible.

Several studies have followed the footsteps of the Alameda County Study and summarised health behaviours in a single ordinal dimension. Using an index similar to that used in Alameda or a modified one, a number of studies have indicated an association between an additive score of health behaviours and health status (e.g. Brock et al. 1988, Rotevatn et al. 1989, Segovia et al. 1991). This approach has been strongly criticised because of its underlying assumption of unidimensionality of health behaviours (Slater and Linder 1988, Dean and Salem 1998). However, despite this criticism composite health behaviour indices are still frequently used. Some recent evidence suggests that health behaviours may interact to exert even a greater effect on subsequent morbidity and mortality than if the effects of the individual unhealthy behaviours were simply added together (Luoto et al. 1998, Johansson and Sundquist 1999, Meng et al. 1999). Several studies have also examined sociodemographic differences in the overall health behaviour using indices of various sets of potentially harmful (Petridou et al. 1997, Pomerleau et al. 1997, Galambos and Tilton-Weaver 1998) or beneficial behaviours (Pill et al. 1995, Blacconiere and Oleckno 1999).

One of the most powerful sources of criticism towards health behaviour indices came from statistical multivariate analyses, supporting the idea of multi-dimensionality of health behaviour. The first dominant multivariate approach was factor analysis. In general, these studies found low intercorrelations between health behaviours and indicated that health behaviour had several dimensions. These studies, however, have not reached an agreement on what the underlying dimensions of health behaviour would be. The results of factor analysis intrinsically depend on which and how many variables are initially included in the analyses, which makes comparison

of the results between studies difficult. The selected variables have also been operationalised and measured in various ways. In addition, the communities studied have varied widely and many studies have been based on selected samples.

Some factor-analytic studies have comprised health protective behaviours, some have included only health risk behaviours while others have not made a difference between them. When all health-related behaviours have been considered, health-promoting behaviours have often been separated as one group (Tapp and Godenthal 1982, Aarø et al. 1995). Some other dimensions have also been repeatable and interpretable. Several studies have separated preventive behaviours from risk-taking behaviours (Tapp and Godenthal 1982, Vickers et al. 1990, Liang et al. 1999), behaviours that require active participation from behaviours that are adopted or maintained passively (Kannas 1981, Tapp and Godenthal 1982, Stephens 1986, Ungemack 1994) and behaviours that expose people to direct risk from those that pose an indirect risk (Langlie 1979, Stephens 1986). However, in many studies some of the behaviours have remained outliers or variables with high loadings on the same factor have consisted of conceptually distinct items and lacked clear substantive interpretation. While somewhat overlapping, the dimensions of active participation and direct risk have often been based on the close interrelationship between smoking and alcohol use (Kannas 1981, Tapp and Godenthal 1982, Hays et al. 1984, Norman 1985, Stephens 1986, Vickers et al. 1990, Ungemack 1994, Aarø et al. 1995, Petridou et al. 1997, Liang et al. 1999), yet some studies have placed smoking and alcohol use on different factors (Kronenfeld et al. 1988, Krick and Sobal 1990, Sobal et al. 1992).

In the second wave of multivariate methods, cluster analysis became dominant. While factor analysis attempts to reduce the data to a smaller number of underlying dimensions by grouping variables across observations, cluster analysis groups observations across variables. Cluster analysis can therefore be used to identify groups of people sharing similar health behaviour patterns (see Abel 1991). Similarly to factor analysis, variables included in the analyses affect the solutions and limit the generalisability of the results. The studies have been able to identify a discrete number of dimensions, characterised by different sociodemographic and attitudinal variables (Harris and Guten 1979, Abel and Kohlmann 1989, Abel 1991, Slater and Flora 1991, Lüschen and Niemann 1995). Other multivariate methods, such as discriminant analysis (Calnan 1985, Oleckno and Blacconiere 1990, Emmons et al. 1994), association analysis (Burke et al. 1997) and correspondence analysis (Abel et al. 2000) have been employed to analyse interrelationships between health behaviours only to a small extent.

Most of the above studies thus give support to the multi-dimensionality of health behaviour, especially when behaviours related to the use of preventive health services have been examined alongside personal health practices. The number of variables used in these studies has been quite large. Furthermore, the range of variables examined has been mixed, also including actions whose contribution to health is rather poorly evidenced. It may not be reasonable to consider the different forms of health behaviour together. As the present study concentrates on behaviours practised on a daily basis, in the following earlier studies that have focused primarily on the associations among a limited number of daily health behaviours will be viewed separately.

A wealth of studies has examined how one daily health behaviour is associated with a range of others. However, since these studies give a priority to one of the behaviours, they are more appropriately regarded as a series of pairwise examinations. Instead, examining several pairs of behaviours in parallel from a neutral perspective can be regarded as an analysis of multiple associations. In studies that make use of multivariate methods, pairwise associations between the behaviours have often been presented as a background. However, most of these studies have focused firmly on the multivariate analyses and more profound examination of these associations has been mainly neglected. Only a few studies have made an attempt to interpret the pairwise associations presented in parallel (Blaxter 1990, Abel and McQueen 1995). Many studies have regarded the pairwise associations between the behaviours as weak or moderate, which has not encouraged to pay attention to their multiple associations. However, other or even the same studies have found associations of considerable strength among subgroups of health behaviours, suggesting that patterns of multiple health behaviours may exist.

Few studies have specifically concentrated on multiple associations between a limited number of daily behaviours. Dean and co-workers (1995) used graphical interaction models to examine interrelationships between situational, behavioural and health variables in Spain. This multivariate technique is based on the examination of several pairwise associations in parallel, and is advantageous when the analysis consists of more than two levels. After adjusting for the other associations, alcohol consumption was related to smoking among men and to physical inactivity among women, but other associations were not observed among the three behaviours.

Blaxter (1990) examined associations between smoking, alcohol use, physical activity and diet using data from the British Health and Lifestyle Survey. Several pairwise associations between unhealthy behaviours were first observed, including some inverse associations, and gender and sociodemographic differences were detected. Turning to multiple associations, only a few people proved to engage in all four unhealthy behaviours, while for most people the patterns of unhealthy and healthy behaviours were mixed. The prevalence of the combinations varied across sociodemographic groups, reflecting the prevalence of the individual unhealthy behaviours in the corresponding groups. Blaxter also analysed the occurrence of

unhealthy behaviours in the presence or absence of other behaviours. The results suggest that a third behaviour may modify an association between two behaviours, but since the grouping was formed progressively in one specific order (starting from smoking and ending with physical inactivity), it is not possible to evaluate the modifying effect of other behaviours on all associations systematically.

Barrett and co-workers (1995) examined associations between alcohol use and other behaviours that might act as confounders in the relationship between alcohol use and cardiovascular mortality. Also three-dimensional associations among smoking, alcohol use and physical activity were analysed with survey data from South Carolina. Among the few statistically significant findings, female drinkers who did not smoke reported regular leisure-time physical activity more often than non-drinkers. Among smokers such an association was not observed. These findings suggest that associations between health behaviours may vary according to other behaviours.

A couple of studies have employed cluster analysis to examine the patterning of daily health behaviours. Patterson and co-workers (1994) searched for population subgroups with similar combinations of cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity and diet quality among American adults. Again, only few people behaved healthily or unhealthily in all respects. Seven clusters of daily health behaviours were identified. Each of the four behaviours alone characterised one cluster, while three clusters showed mixed patterns: drinking and smoking formed the first mixed pattern, healthy diet and physical activity the second, and diet quality and physical activity below average, combined with smoking and drinking slightly above average, the third. The clusters were differently related to various sociodemographic characteristics. De Bourdeaudhuij and van Oost (1999) also used cluster analysis on a sample of Belgian adults. Smoking, alcohol use, sleeping patterns, being overweight and physical activity at work were included in the analyses, in which healthy and unhealthy clusters were found in each of the three age groups examined. Smoking was the behaviour that separated the unhealthy cluster from the healthy cluster. Higher alcohol use and, in the two youngest age groups, lower physical activity and fewer hours of sleep were also related to the unhealthy cluster.

#### 3.4 Previous Finnish studies

Previous Finnish research on the interrelationships between health behaviours is patchy. The data used in many studies is by now quite old and many samples have been selective. Associations with other health behaviours have often been studied among other kinds of correlates.

In a study comparing dietary habits across smoking categories, smoking was inversely associated with both vegetable use and avoidance of milk fat (Prättälä et al. 1998).

Ex-smokers were especially healthy in their food choices. In a follow-up of twins, Kaprio and Koskenvuo (1988) compared health behaviour as well as psychosocial and socio-economic characteristics between persistent smokers and future quitters. Average alcohol consumption was higher among those who remained smokers than those who quit, but there were no differences in leisure-time physical activity or body weight over the period of six years.

Männistö and co-workers (1997) found that differences in smoking, diet and relative weight were larger between abstainers and alcohol consumers than between consumers of different alcoholic beverages. Abstainers smoked less and had higher body weights than drinkers. Fat intake was lower and carbohydrate intake higher among abstainers than among drinkers. There were no differences between the drinking categories in the total physical activity. Among male smokers (Männistö et al. 1996), alcohol consumption was associated, either positively or inversely, with almost all foods examined, whereas differences in nutrient intakes were small. Alcohol use was positively associated with body weight.

Marti and co-workers examined how leisure-time physical inactivity and other cardiovascular risk factors were associated with smoking and body weight in selected areas of Finland. Among adults (Marti et al. 1988), an inverse association was observed between physical activity and both smoking and body weight, whereas among adolescents (Marti and Vartiainen 1989) inactivity was inversely associated only with smoking. In a follow-up of men, those who increased their physical activity smoked less after 20 years than those who remained sedentary (Marti et al. 1989). Aarnio and co-workers (1997) examined associations of other health behaviours with physical activity among adolescents. Smoking, alcohol use, and saturated fat use were inversely associated with physical activity.

Rissanen and co-workers examined health behaviours as determinants of overweight (Rissanen et al. 1991) and weight gain (Rissanen et al. 1989, Rissanen et al. 1991). The prevalence of overweight was inversely associated with leisure-time physical activity but not with smoking or alcohol use. Those who started smoking lost weight whereas quitters gained weight. Higher drinking was positively and frequent physical activity inversely associated with weight gain. In north-eastern Finland (Haapanen et al. 1997), low physical activity predicted higher weight gain over the 10-year study period among women but not among men. In both genders, weight gain was highest among those who had decreased their physical activity and lowest among those who had increased their activity.

In Finland, associations between multiple unhealthy behaviours have been examined among both adults and adolescents. Two studies have included a large number of behaviours in their analyses. Rimpelä and co-workers (1978) examined correlations

between 12 health behaviours among adolescents. Smoking showed the strongest associations with other health behaviours, especially with alcohol use and coffee drinking, but was not clearly related to physical inactivity. Kannas (1981) used factor analysis to examine associations among 16 preventive health behaviours among adolescent men. Five dimensions of health behaviour were identified. The dimensions were named as the use of sugar and fat, active health-oriented behaviour, regularity of eating and resting habits, dental care, and "la dolce vita", characterised by alcohol use, smoking and having several sexual partners.

Other studies have examined associations among a group of daily health behaviours. Miilunpalo and co-workers (1984) used data from central eastern Finland to examine the co-occurrence of five unhealthy behaviours, which were infrequent free-time physical activity, smoking, unhealthy diet, heavy alcohol use and being overweight. The appearance of pairwise combinations of behaviours was compared with those calculated assuming that the behaviours were independent of each other. Most behaviours were weakly but statistically significantly associated: in both men and women, smoking was associated with alcohol use, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet. Being overweight was positively associated with inactivity and inversely associated with smoking. In men, alcohol use was associated with inactivity, unhealthy diet and being overweight, while these associations were not examined among women owing to the small number of heavy alcohol users. Approximately one fifth of the respondents had none of the unhealthy behaviours while 8% of men and 1% of women had at least four of them. Both of these proportions were larger than expected, were the behaviours independent of each other. A number of different factors were found to be related either to the healthy or the unhealthy end of the summary measure.

Karisto, Prättälä and Berg (Karisto et al. 1993, Prättälä et al. 1994) examined cooccurrence of smoking, high alcohol use, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet using the Health Behaviour among the Finnish Adult Population surveys from the 1980s. The proportion of those with three or four unhealthy behaviours decreased over time, mostly because of dietary changes. Only a few people had all four unhealthy behaviours while the majority belonged to the intermediate category of one or two unhealthy behaviours. The prevalence of having multiple unhealthy behaviours also differed by sociodemographic background characteristics that were examined individually and in combination. In addition, accumulation of three or four unhealthy behaviours in the same individuals was examined. All other combinations except that of non-smoking, high alcohol use, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet were more prevalent than would have been expected if the behaviours were independent of each other, indicating that the behaviours tended to accumulate. Accumulation of the unhealthy behaviours remained similar over the study period. The accumulation was more pronounced in population subgroups where the prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours was low.

Raitakari and co-workers (1995) conducted a similar analysis of accumulation of none to four of these behaviours among adolescents. Approximately one third of the respondents did not engage in any of the unhealthy behaviours whereas 3% presented all four of them. The proportion of persons with none of the unhealthy behaviours as well as that of three or four of them was larger than expected, were the behaviours independent of each other. In contrast, having one or two unhealthy behaviours was less common than expected. Several independent determinants of the co-occurrence of these behaviours were identified among sociodemographic, psychosocial and health status indicators.

# 3.5 Summary of the previous studies

A large number of studies have examined pairwise associations between health behaviours. Taken together, the findings suggest several positive associations, yet some behaviours seem not to be associated and some associations are even inverse. Studies including more than two behaviours have most often summarised the behaviours in an additive index or used multivariate methods to examine associations among them. Health behaviour patterns seem to be mixed for most people while only a small minority behave in an unhealthy manner in all respects. There is some evidence to suggest that a third behaviour may modify an association between other behaviours and that several forms of unhealthy behaviour may cluster, suggesting that meaningful patterns of more than two behaviours may exist. As a whole, however, research on the multiple associations between health behaviours has been sparse and sporadic. A comprehensive account of the associations among daily health behaviours is lacking.

Gender differences have been reported in some pairs of behaviours. Combinations of behaviours observed in cluster analyses have been associated with different sociodemographic and psychosocial characteristics. Little attention has otherwise been paid to the possible gender and sociodemographic variation. Whether the associations between health behaviours are similar in different subgroups of the population is not known. Compared with foreign studies, previous Finnish research is quite voluminous and the findings generally agree quite well with those from other countries. However, even in Finland the overall view of the associations among health behaviours and their sociodemographic variation is incomplete.

## **4 SCOPE AND PURPOSE**

The purpose of this study is to examine interrelationships among health behaviours and sociodemographic variation in these interrelationships among Finnish men and women in the 1990s. The behaviours included smoking, alcohol use, physical activity and dietary behaviour. In addition, being overweight was examined in one substudy. These behaviours were taken under examination because they are more or less routinely practised on a daily basis and their contribution to the major chronic diseases is well established.

The study concerns a period when Finland first fell into and then recovered from a deep economic recession, characterised by an unprecedentedly high rate of unemployment. However, this unusual period seems not to have affected much the population trends in health behaviours. During the last decades, changes in these behaviours have been slow and varied in direction (Prättälä et al. 1994, Lahelma et al. 1997, Helakorpi et al. 2000). Smoking has slightly decreased among men but increased among women. Alcohol consumption has increased. Free-time physical activity has also increased, and dietary habits have become healthier, yet average weight and the prevalence of overweight have increased. Sociodemographic changes in the trends of the health behaviours have been moderate. Overall, a recent cohort study (Luoto et al. 1999) showed changes compatible with these population-level trends. However, smoking declined in both genders and gaining weight was more common than in trend studies, as could be expected owing to the advancing age of the respondents.

Previous research suggests that while few people behave consistently in a healthy or unhealthy way, health behaviours are not independent of each other but may emerge in larger patterns. The concept of health-related lifestyle as applied here refers first of all to the whole of health-related behaviours. Health-related lifestyle may consist of both healthy and unhealthy components. Although traditional structural constraints may have been eroded and people can more freely than previously choose their own lifestyles, health behaviours are nevertheless closely linked with various sociodemographic factors. Stability of the associations is therefore examined across several sociodemographic characteristics. Men and women are analysed separately throughout the study.

In this study the unhealthy end of the health behaviours is taken under examination. Hence, the focus is on risk behaviours rather than on health-promoting behaviours. The behaviours are examined in a symmetric setting, so that no preference is given to any of the behaviours in advance, Multiple associations between the behaviours are examined, and several pairs of behaviours are analysed in parallel in order to

evaluate the findings concerning each pair against the other pairs. Associations between each pair of behaviours, or their absence, provide perspective for evaluating the significance of the associations observed between other behaviours. Moreover, examining the associations systematically in all possible pairs of behaviours provides a general view of their patterning. Pairwise associations among the health behaviours are examined both cross-sectionally and longitudinally.

## The specific aims of the study are to examine:

- Multiple associations among health behaviours. First, accumulation of unhealthy behaviours in the same individuals is examined. Second, importance of the associations as determinants of the whole distribution of the behaviours is assessed.
- 2. Sociodemographic determinants of engaging in multiple unhealthy behaviours.
- 3. Sociodemographic variation in the associations between health behaviours.
- 4. Longitudinal associations between health behaviours. The first aim is to examine whether each of the health behaviours predicts changes in the other behaviours over seven years. The second aim is to find out whether changes in each health behaviour are related to changes in the other behaviours.

## 5 MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### 5.1 Data sources

Two datasets were used in this study. The data in studies I–III derived from a series of cross-sectional surveys conducted within the Health Behaviour among Finnish Adult Population project (Helakorpi et al. 2000). These nationwide surveys have been repeated annually since 1978. The surveys were carried out among independent samples of 5000 Finns aged 15–64 years, drawn at random from the National Population Register. The present study consisted of 20–64-year-old respondents to the surveys conducted between 1991 and 1998. Response rates, provided by anonymous postal questionnaires with two reminders to the non-respondents, varied from 64% to 72% among men and from 75% to 82% among women. Data from the successive study years were pooled. Altogether 12,192 males and 13,822 females were included in the analyses.

The data for study IV came from a follow-up study among the participants in the annual surveys in 1989 and 1990. To form a panel design, 3664 male and 4025 female respondents to either of these surveys were recontacted in 1997 (Luoto et al. 1999). Out of the original 7689 persons, 7435 could be traced from the National Population Register. Sixty-nine percent of men and 78% of women participated in the follow-up, yielding 5494 respondents. Those aged 20–64 years at the initial contact were included in the present study, comprising 2229 men and 2852 women.

# 5.2 Study variables

The questionnaires were structured and they included predefined response alternatives. To ensure comparability, core questions, timing and implementation of the study were kept similar from year to year. Health behaviours included in the present study were smoking, use of alcohol, physical activity and dietary habits. In study IV being overweight was also considered.

The health behaviours were measured using different scales. Alcohol use and relative weight were measured as continuous variables while the other variables were categorical. In order to treat the behaviours uniformly, all variables were dichotomised and the unhealthy end of the behaviours was taken under examination. While the selection of the behaviours was based on their well-established roles in the aetiology of the major chronic diseases, judgements about their appropriate levels are much more problematic. In most cases there is no strict limit where the health risk associated with the behaviours would suddenly appear or sharply increase. However,

dichotomisation reduces statistical power and may therefore underestimate the strength of the associations observed.

Smoking status was determined on the basis of several questions concerning the smoking history and the last smoking occasion. In study I current smoking was taken under examination. Those who declared to have smoked regularly for at least one year and having smoked during the previous month were considered current smokers. Studies II—IV examined daily smokers, restricted to those who had last smoked within two days.

Alcohol consumption was estimated as the sum of last week's consumption of beer, long drinks, wine and distilled spirits. Because the consumption of cider was low in the beginning of the 1990s but increased considerably during the decade (STAKES 1999), the follow-up measurement of study IV also included cider and light wine (alcoholic content vol. ~5%). The use of these beverages was converted into comparable units based on their content of pure alcohol and summed together. In study I, men consuming more than 8 units of alcohol a week and women consuming more than 5 units of alcohol a week were classified as high alcohol users. In studies II and III those belonging to the upper quartile of alcohol use, separately for each gender, were considered heavy users, corresponding to more than 12 weekly units for men and more than 5 units for women. In study IV the upper quartile of alcohol use was likewise taken under examination, calculated separately for each gender from the mean of the baseline and the follow-up measurements. The corresponding cut-off points were more than 10 and more than 4 units a week, respectively for men and women.

Physical activity was assessed by asking the frequency of leisure-time activity on a six-point scale, the alternatives ranging from daily to a couple of times a year or less. Respondents exercising less than once a week (for at least 30 minutes making them at least mildly short of breath or perspiring) were considered to have infrequent physical activity.

For diet, a sum-index was constructed. The components of the index were eating fresh vegetables or root vegetables (potatoes excluded) less than three times a week, using butter on bread or drinking whole milk, and eating less than 5 slices of bread a day. Making two or three unhealthy choices from these items was used as an indicator of unhealthy diet.

Although relative body weight may be considered a physical dimension rather than a behaviour, being overweight was also examined in study IV. Overweight was described in terms of the body mass index (BMI). People were asked to provide their weight in light clothing at an accuracy of 1 kg and their height in centimetres. The

BMI was calculated as weight (kg) divided by the square of height (m<sup>2</sup>). The upper quartile of the BMI, calculated separately for each gender from the mean of the two measurements, was taken as the limit for overweight, corresponding to the value of 27.6 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for men and 26.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for women.

Sociodemographic variables used in the study were educational level, age group, marital status and living area. Each of these sociodemographic variables was divided into three categories. Educational level (studies I–III) was measured by the number of school years, and classified as those having 9 years or less, 10–12 years and 13 or more years of education. In studies I–III the respondents were divided into those aged 20–34 years, 35–49 years and 50–64 years. In study IV age was adjusted for. Marital status (studies I–III) was categorised as married, single and divorced or widowed. In studies II and III the respondents were classified by the degree of urbanisation of their living area into those living in the capital area, other cities and rural municipalities. The distribution of the behaviours by each of the sociodemographic background variables is presented in Table 1.

#### 5.3 Statistical methods

All analyses were conducted using SAS statistical software (SAS Institute Inc 1989). Methods suitable for dichotomised variables were applied, and the results from most analyses are presented as odds ratios. In statistical tests, 5% significance level was used and the results are reported with 95% confidence intervals. All analyses were carried out separately for men and women.

Accumulation of unhealthy behaviours was examined by comparing the occurrence of each possible combination of behaviours with that expected assuming the behaviours to be independent of each other (I). Expected proportions were calculated by multiplying the probabilities of the individual unhealthy behaviours. Confidence intervals for the ratios were calculated using the formula for confidence intervals for proportions considering expected frequencies as fixed values.

General log-linear models (Knoke 1981, Fienberg 1985) were fitted to examine key associations among the behaviours (I). A four-way contingency table (2\*2\*2\*2 table), in which health behaviours served as the classifying variables, was taken as the basis of the analysis. A series of log-linear models of increasing complexity was fitted to the observed counts, starting with the model of independence and adding terms to the model in the order of their statistical significance. Interactions between the variables were interpreted to indicate mutual dependence among the behaviours. The simplest model that fitted the data adequately was searched for. The fit of the model was assessed by comparing the deviance to the degrees of freedom and

**Table 1.** Number of respondents and prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours by sociodemographic background variables and gender

	Z		Smoking (%)	g (%)	High alc	High alcohol use (%)	Inactiv	Inactivity (%)	Unheal	Unhealthy diet (%)
	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
Age group										
20-34	3914	4415	34	23	28	28	28	23	21	19
35-49	4600	5307	35	23	31	30	30	74	19	15
50-64	3678	4100	27	12	19	17	23	20	<b>5</b> 6	21
Education										
0-9 years	3777	3580	36	22	22	18	30	23	30	25
10-12 years	4007	4055	38	25	28	26	56	23	21	19
13+ years	4216	5961	24	16	31	30	23	22	14	13
Marital status										
Married	8313	8696	30	18	25	24	27	23	19	17
Single	2947	2376	35	24	30	31	27	21	27	19
Divorced	879	1689	49	27	35	27	56	22	30	23
Area										
Capital area	2010	2637	30	24	34	37	<b>5</b> 6	25	17	15
Other cities	5631	6350	34	21	28	26	<b>5</b> 6	22	20	17
Rural areas	4551	4835	31	16	22	20	30	22	52	21

evaluating the statistical significance of the terms added to the model. Complementary analyses were conducted to check how well the patterns detected in the whole population applied across sociodemographic groups. Each background variable was considered one at a time, and a procedure similar to that explained above was followed.

An index of unhealthy behaviours was compiled by summing up the values for the four behaviours, each unhealthy choice providing one point to the overall score (II). The score thus ranged from 0 to 4, higher values representing unhealthier combinations of behaviours. Analysis of variance (Fox 1997) was employed to compare the mean number of unhealthy behaviours across sociodemographic groups. One-way analysis was performed to examine the effect of each sociodemographic characteristic individually. Independent effects of the characteristics were examined by multi-way analysis of variance adjusting for all other sociodemographic characteristics. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses (Hosmer and Lemeshow 1989) were similarly used to examine the proportion of those with three or four unhealthy behaviours. Interaction effects of the sociodemographic characteristics were tested for statistical significance and included in the model if they were significant at the 5% risk level.

Mantel-Haenszel odds ratios (Rothman 1986) were used to measure associations between each pair of behaviours (III). Breslow-Day test for homogeneity (Breslow and Day 1980) was employed to test whether the associations differed between sociodemographic groups. Stratum-specific odds ratios were calculated if the Breslow-Day statistic indicated sociodemographic differences. Co-occurrence of two unhealthy behaviours was examined across sociodemographic groups by comparing the proportion of those with two unhealthy behaviours to those with only one adverse behaviour.

Two sets of prospective analyses were conducted (IV). First, each behaviour in turn was selected as a predictor variable, and it was examined whether its value at the baseline measurement predicted other behaviours in the follow-up. Logistic regression analysis was used, adjusting for age and the baseline value of the outcome variable. Second, concurrent changes in the health behaviours were examined. Separate analyses were carried out for possible healthy and unhealthy changes in each behaviour. Four different cases were thus formed: both behaviours changed in a positive or negative direction, or one of them showed a positive change while the other changed negatively. When considering negative health behaviour changes, only initially positive cases were included and those who experienced a change in the other behaviour were compared with those with no such change. Similarly, for possible positive changes, only initially negative cases were included and those with a change in the other behaviour were compared with those whose behaviour remained

unchanged. Logistic regression analysis was again used, and adjustment for age was made. The proportion of those who changed each behaviour is shown in Table 2.

**Table 2.** Respondents' initial status in each health behaviour and the number and proportion of those who changed their behaviours over seven years by gender

	Men			Wom	en	
	N	Changed (N)	Changed (%)	N	Changed (N)	Changed (%)
Smoking	655	188	29	525	139	27
High alcohol use	533	216	41	609	244	40
Inactivity	661	377	57	739	442	60
Unhealthy diet	585	398	68	670	483	72
High BMI	508	102	20	593	88	15
Nonsmoking	1454	67	5	2202	81	4
Low alcohol use	1696	254	15	2243	341	15
Activity	1433	214	15	1922	264	14
Healthy diet	1644	152	9	2182	194	9
Low BMI	1721	231	13	2259	344	15

### 6 RESULTS

# 6.1 Multiple associations among health behaviours

#### 6.1.1 Accumulation of health behaviours

Study I examined multiple associations among health behaviours. The data were first divided into all 16 possible combinations that could be derived from the four behaviours after dichotomising them into unhealthy and non-unhealthy ends (Table 3). Distribution of the respondents into each combination was first viewed. Few people reported all four unhealthy behaviours while the proportion of those with none of them was relatively large. Among the mixed combinations, smoking and high alcohol use as the only unhealthy behaviours, as well as the pairwise combination of these two unhealthy behaviours, were relatively common. In contrast, the combination of high alcohol use, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet, as well as that of smoking, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet were infrequent.

The observed prevalence of each combination of health behaviours was then compared with their expected prevalence, calculated assuming the behaviours to be independent of each other. The ratio of observed and expected proportion was used to measure accumulation of unhealthy behaviours in the same individual. The combination of all four unhealthy behaviours showed the highest ratio of accumulation (Table 3). Among men, the combination of smoking, alcohol use and physical inactivity, and that of smoking, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet were also more prevalent than expected under the assumption of independence of the behaviours. Among women, all three-behaviour combinations that included smoking showed accumulation. In contrast, in both genders the combination without smoking was clearly less prevalent than would have been expected. Among the two-behaviour combinations, smoking and alcohol use as well as physical inactivity and unhealthy diet showed accumulation, while the other two-behaviour combinations were less prevalent than expected. The behaviours appearing alone were all relatively close to their expected prevalence, with the exception of smoking, which was clearly less prevalent than expected. To counterbalance the accumulation of unhealthy behaviours, the opposite end of all healthy behaviours also showed some accumulation.

The mixed combinations of three and two unhealthy behaviours were also examined without taking into account whether the remaining one or two behaviours were healthy or unhealthy (I, Table 3). When the combinations of three unhealthy behaviours were analysed regardless of the healthfulness of the fourth behaviour, all of them turned out to be more prevalent than expected if the behaviours were independent of

**Table 3.** Combinations of the unhealthy behaviours among men and women. Observed numbers, observed and expected proportions and their ratios with the 95% confidence intervals

					Men				Women			
	S	¥	Ħ	Ω	Count	% sqO	Exp %	O/E ratio	Count	% sqO	Exp %	O/E ratio
-	+	+	+	+	261	2.4	6.0	2.7 (2.33-2.97)	105	6.0	0.3	3.2 (2.56-3.77)
7	+	+	+	,	568	5.3	3.6	1.5 (1.37-1.61)	317	2.6	1.3	2.1 (1.82-2.27)
n	+	+	,	+	262	2.5	2.4	1.0 (0.88-1.12)	160	1.3	6.0	1.4 (1.22-1.66)
4	+	ι	+	+	189	1.8	1.3	1.4 (1.20-1.59)	139	1.2	8.0	1.5 (1.26-1.75)
2	ı	+	+	+	103	1.0	1.4	0.7 (0.54-0.80)	69	9.0	8.0	0.7 (0.55-0.89)
9	+	+		,	1205	11.3	9.5	1.2 (1.13-1.26)	783	6.5	4.3	1.5 (1.41-1.61)
7	+	ı	+	ι	443	4.1	4.9	0.9 (0.77-0.92)	350	2.9	3.6	0.8 (0.73-0.89)
∞	+	1	t	+	291	2.7	3.4	0.8 (0.72-0.90)	251	2.1	2.6	0.8 (0.71-0.91)
6	ŧ		+		358	3.3	5.6	0.6 (0.54-0.66)	280	2.3	3.7	0.6 (0.55-0.70)
10	ı		ı	+	251	2.3	3.8	0.6 (0.54-0.69)	165	1.4	2.7	0.5 (0.44-0.59)
П	1		+	+	266	2.5	2.0	1.3 (1.10-1.40)	338	2.8	2.2	1.3 (1.13-1.40)
12	+	,	١,	,	941	8.8	13.0	0.7 (0.64-0.72)	993	8.2	12.0	0.7 (0.65-0.73)
13	1	+			1491	14.0	14.8	0.9 (0.90-0.98)	1307	10.8	12.5	0.9 (0.83-0.91)
14	ı	ı	+	ı	735	6.9	7.7	0.9 (0.83-0.96)	1173	2.6	10.4	0.9 (0.89-0.99)
15	1	ľ	•	+	573	5.4	5.3	1.0 (0.93-1.10)	868	7.4	7.4	1.0 (0.94-1.07)
16	ı	,	,	,	2750	25.7	20.4	1.3 (1.22-1.30)	4730	39.2	34.7	1.1 (1.11-1.16)
	-	2		1	- 1	T	1	1 1 1 1 T T 1 T T T T T T T T T T T T T		oft to some	od concrete	to conceptor +id

symbols: S=smoking, A=alcohol use, E=physical inactivity, D=unhealthy diet, + =presence of the adverse habit, -=absence of the adverse habit

each other. When the combinations of two unhealthy behaviours were summed up without paying attention to the two remaining behaviours, the combinations of two unhealthy behaviours were also more prevalent than expected, with two exceptions: the combination of alcohol use and unhealthy diet was slightly less prevalent than expected, and that of alcohol use and physical inactivity did not differ from its expected prevalence.

## 6.1.2 Key associations among health behaviours

Multiple associations between the behaviours were then analysed by fitting general log-linear models (I). The aim of the modelling was to examine which associations are important determinants of the whole distribution of the behaviours. Because the order in which the terms are included in the models are indicative of their relative importance, the progress of the modelling that was not presented in the original articles is shown in Table 4. The modelling was carried out separately for men and women but it turned out to advance in the same order in both genders. All main effects, representing the individual behaviours, were included in the base model. Pairwise interactions between the variables, representing bivariate associations between the behaviours, were first added to the models in the order of their statistical significance. The interaction between alcohol use and physical inactivity was not statistically significant. The first three-behaviour interaction of smoking, alcohol use and physical activity was then added to the model. For women, this model was adequate and subsequent terms added to the model did not improve the fit. For men, the three-behaviour interaction of alcohol use, physical activity and diet was also needed to make the model fit. Thus, for women the final model included all twobehaviour interactions and the three-behaviour interaction of smoking, alcohol use and physical activity (deviance 3.53 on 4 df). Among men, the same model plus the three-behaviour interaction of alcohol use, physical activity and diet (deviance 4.43 on 3 df) was deemed the best fit.

**Table 4.** Fitting of the successive log-linear models on the associations between health behaviours

	Men			Women		
	Deviance	df	p-value	Deviance	df	p-value
Main effects	876.8	11	0.001	862.2	11	0.001
+Smoking*Alcohol use	398.0	10	0.001	234.9	10	0.001
+Smoking*Inactivity	194.0	9	0.001	141.1	9	0.001
+Inactivity*Diet	62.6	8	0.001	60.1	8	0.001
+Smoking*Diet	30.2	7	0.001	34.3	7	0.001
+Alcohol use*Diet	14.7	6	0.001	9.8	6	0.001
+Alcohol use*Inactivity	14.7	5	ns.	9.8	5	ns.
+Smoking*Alcohol use*Inactivity	8.4	4	0.01	3.5	4	0.01
+Alcohol use*Inactivity*Diet	4.4	3	0.04			

Table 5 shows odds ratios drawn from the parameter estimates of the final models. The three-behaviour associations were returned into three pairs of odds ratios, each conditional to the third behaviour.

Among men, smoking showed a positive association with alcohol use and physical inactivity, stronger when the third behaviour (physical activity or alcohol use, respectively) was unhealthy (Table 5). There was also a positive association between smoking and unhealthy diet as well as between inactivity and unhealthy diet, the latter again being stronger among high alcohol users. The association between high alcohol use and unhealthy diet was inverse, and it was stronger among the physically active. The association between alcohol use and inactivity depended on smoking status or the choice of diet: the association was positive when the third behaviour (smoking or diet) was unhealthy but inverse when the third behaviour was healthy.

Among women, all other associations were positive but the association between high alcohol use and unhealthy diet was inverse, and the association between high alcohol use and inactivity depended on smoking status, similarly to men. Overall, the conditional odds ratios were higher when the third behaviour was unhealthy.

**Table 5.** Associations between health behaviours according to the log-linear models by gender. Conditional odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals

	Men	Women
SA among physically inactive	2.86 (2.46-3.33)	3.80 (3.19-4.53)
SA among physically active	2.30 (2.09-2.53)	2.94 (2.65-3.25)
SE among high alcohol users	2.06 (1.80-2.36)	1.85 (1.57-2.17)
SE among low alcohol users	1.66 (1.47-1.87)	1.43 (1.27-1.61)
SD	1.38 (1.25-1.52)	1.40 (1.26-1.56)
AE among smokers	1.05 (0.86-1.29)	1.16 (1.00-1.36)
AE among nonsmokers	0.86 (0.75-0.98)	0.90 (0.79-1.02)
AE among those with unhealthy diet	1.06 (0.92-1.22)	
AE among those with healthy diet	0.86 (0.75-0.98)	
AD (in men among physically inactive)	0.94 (0.80-1.11)	0.75 (0.67-0.84)
AD (in men among physically active)	0.76 (0.68-0.86)	
ED (in men among high alcohol users)	1.95 (1.67-2.28)	1.59 (1.43-1.76)
ED (in men among low alcohol users)	1.59 (1.39-1.82)	

symbols: S=smoking, A=alcohol use, E=physical inactivity, D=unhealthy diet

# 6.2 Sociodemographic determinants of multiple unhealthy behaviours

The above examination shows that while behaving in an unhealthy manner in several respects is relatively uncommon, people with four unhealthy behaviours can be found

and their number is larger than expected if the behaviours were independent of each other. Most combinations of three unhealthy behaviours were also more prevalent than expected. Study II examined sociodemographic characteristics of those with multiple unhealthy behaviours.

In both genders, those in the oldest age group and the most highly educated were least likely to have three or four unhealthy behaviours (Tables 6 and 7). Adjusting for other sociodemographic characteristics slightly increased the differences. Single men were more likely to engage in three or four unhealthy behaviours than married men, and divorced men did so most often. Among women, the married were least likely to have three or four unhealthy behaviours. Single women engaged in three or four unhealthy behaviours slightly more often than the divorced, but adjusting for other sociodemographic characteristics changed the order of these categories to show a similar marital pattern with men. Men had no differences between the living areas, but in women the proportion of those with three or four unhealthy behaviours increased with the increasing degree of urbanisation. In the mean number of unhealthy behaviours sociodemographic differences were small and statistically non-significant. However, the mean distribution showed a pattern similar to the proportion of those with three or four unhealthy behaviours.

**Table 6.** Mean number of unhealthy behaviours and the proportion of those reporting three or four unhealthy behaviours by sociodemographic characteristics among men. Means and odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals, unadjusted and adjusted for the other sociodemographic characteristics

	Mean		Three	or four unhealthy be	ehaviours
	Unadjusted	Adjusted	%	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR
Age group	p=0.21	p=0.12		p<0.001	p<0.001
20-34	1.10 (0.94-1.26)	1.26 (1.03-1.49)	9.8	1.57 (1.32-1.86)	2.05 (1.67-2.52)
35-49	1.14 (0.99-1.29)	1.28 (1.07-1.48)	9.8	1.57 (1.33-1.85)	1.86 (1.56-2.21)
50-64	0.94 (0.76-1.11)	1.01 (0.77-1.25)	6.5	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Education	p=0.05	p=0.02		p<0.001	p<0.001
0-9 years	1.17 (0.99-1.35)	1.34 (1.11-1.57)	10.4	1.91 (1.62-2.27)	2.49 (2.07-3.00)
10-12 years	1.15 (0.98-1.32)	1.23 (1.01-1.45)	10.7	1.97 (1.67-2.32)	2.01 (1.70-2.38)
13+ years	0.90 (0.74-1.06)	0.98 (0.77-1.19)	5.7	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Marital status	p=0.05	p=0.12		p<0.001	p<0.001
Divorced	1.39 (1.03-1.76)	1.39 (1.00-1.78)	14.0	1.97 (1.59-2.44)	1.93 (1.56-2.40)
Single	1.18 (0.98-1.37)	1.15 (0.93-1.38)	10.8	1.46 (1.27-1.69)	1.29 (1.10-1.51)
Married	0.99 (0.88-1.11)	1.01 (0.87-1.14)	7.6	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Area	p=0.98	p=0.95		p=0.80	p=0.08
Capital area	1.05 (0.82-1.28)	1.21 (0.93-1.49)	8.9	1.04 (0.87-1.26)	1.24 (1.02-1.51)
Other cities	1.07 (0.93-1.20)	1.18 (0.99-1.36)	9.0	1.05 (0.91-1.20)	1.11 (0.96-1.28)
Rural areas	1.08 (0.92-1.23)	1.16 (0.96-1.37)	8.6	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)

Interactions between the sociodemographic characteristics were few. For the mean number of unhealthy behaviours, none were observed. In the proportion of those with three of four unhealthy behaviours two interactions were found for both genders.

In both men and women education and age interacted (p<0.001 and p=0.007, respectively). In addition, men showed an interaction between marital status and age (p<0.001) and women between educational level and the degree of urbanisation of the living area (p=0.03).

Table 7. Mean number of unhealthy behaviours and the proportion of those reporting three or four unhealthy behaviours by sociodemographic characteristics among women. Means and odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals, unadjusted and adjusted for the other sociodemographic characteristics

	Mean		Three	or four unhealthy be	haviours
	Unadjusted	Adjusted	%	Unadjusted OR	Adjusted OR
Age group	p=0.04	p=0.03		p<0.001	p<0.001
20-34	0.95 (0.80-1.09)	1.09 (0.89-1.30)	6.8	3.17 (2.50-4.02)	4.47 (3.40-5.89)
35-49	0.92 (0.79-1.06)	1.04 (0.86-1.22)	6.3	2.91 (2.30-3.69)	3.65 (2.84-4.68)
50-64	0.69 (0.53-0.85)	0.75 (0.55-0.96)	2.3	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Education	p=0.57	p=0.18		p<0.001	p<0.001
0-9 years	0.88 (0.70-1.06)	1.05 (0.83-1.27)	5.4	1.25 (1.04-1.52)	2.28 (1.84-2.83)
10-12 years	0.93 (0.77-1.10)	1.00 (0.81-1.20)	6.5	1.52 (1.28-1.82)	1.83 (1.53-2.20)
13+ years	0.82 (0.68-0.96)	0.83 (0.66-1.00)	4.4	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Marital status	p=0.26	p=0.36		p<0.001	p<0.001
Divorced	0.99 (0.73-1.24)	1.06 (0.78-1.34)	6.8	1.58 (1.27-1.96)	1.89 (1.51-2.37)
Single	0.98 (0.76-1.19)	0.96 (0.72-1.21)	7.6	1.79 (1.49-2.15)	1.57 (1.30-1.91)
Married	0.82 (0.71-0.92)	0.86 (0.74-0.98)	4.4	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Area	p=0.16	p=0.23		p<0.001	p=0.001
Capital area	1.03 (0.83-1.22)	1.10 (0.87-1.33)	6.7	1.54 (1.25-1.90)	1.56 (1.26-1.93)
Other cities	0.86 (0.74-0.98)	0.93 (0.76-1.09)	5.3	1.21 (1.01-1.44)	1.18 (0.99-1.42)
Rural areas	0.79 (0.65-0.93)	0.86 (0.67-1.05)	4.5	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)

Young age and low education together increased the likelihood of having three or four unhealthy behaviours (II, Figure 1). Differences in the highest educational category were small, but in the lowest and the intermediate categories the likelihood of three or four unhealthy behaviours increased with lowering age. When age was examined together with marital status among men, it had a contrasting effect: multiple unhealthy behaviours were more common among the non-married in the two oldest age groups. Among the married differences between age groups were small. Among women a tendency for "urban" unhealthy behaviour was observed. Considering the combined effect of living area and educational level among women, the likelihood of three or four unhealthy behaviours varied only slightly. The effect of urbanisation turned out to be moderate when examined together with educational level.

# 6.3 Sociodemographic differences in the associations between health behaviours

In study I, log-linear modelling was used to check whether the associations observed between health behaviours were consistent across sociodemographic groups. Some sociodemographic differences were detected. However, only a few interactions between the behaviours were needed in the models as their influence may have been overwhelmed by the sociodemographic characteristics. Therefore, the results remain only suggestive. In study III sociodemographic differences in the associations between health behaviours were examined in more detail. The analysis was restricted to pairwise associations between the behaviours, which were examined in parallel by several sociodemographic characteristics.

Table 8 shows pairwise associations between health behaviours in the whole study population (see also I, Table 3). The strongest association was observed between smoking and high alcohol use. This association was especially strong among women. The associations between smoking and other unhealthy choices were also clearly positive, as was the association between physical inactivity and unhealthy diet. The association between high alcohol use and physical inactivity was weaker but positive, scarcely reaching statistical significance in women. The association between high alcohol use and unhealthy diet was inverse, but not statistically significant in men.

**Table 8.** Pairwise associations between health behaviours by gender. Mantel-Haenszel odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals (compared with no association between the behaviours, OR=1.00)

	Men	Women
Smoking and Alcohol use	2.14 (1.97-2.33)	2.68 (2.46-2.92)
Smoking and Inactivity	2.16 (1.99-2.36)	1.70 (1.55-1.87)
Smoking and Unhealthy diet	1.58 (1.44-1.73)	1.51 (1.36-1.68)
Alcohol use and Inactivity	1.25 (1.15-1.37)	1.10 (1.00-1.20)
Alcohol use and Unhealthy diet	0.95 (0.86-1.05)	0.82 (0.74-0.91)
Inactivity and Unhealthy diet	1.82 (1.65-2.01)	1.62 (1.46-1.79)

Also in study IV pairwise associations between the behaviours were first viewed cross-sectionally (IV, Table 1). The results from the first and the second measurement were fairly consistent and in agreement with the above results. In addition, associations with relative body weight and the health behaviours were examined: being overweight was positively associated with inactivity and unhealthy diet. The association between overweight and alcohol use was positive in men but inverse in women. Smoking and overweight were not associated.

Smoking*Unhealthy diet 1.19 (0.99-1.43) 1.66 (1.39-1.98) 1.51 (1.24-1.84) Alcohol use*Inactivity 0.95 (0.79-1.15)	Women  Smoking*Alcohol use 3.72 (3.12-4.43) 2.56 (2.20-2.98) 2.69 (2.34-3.09) Smoking*Alcohol use 2.40 (2.15-2.68) 3.38 (2.79-4.09) 2.75 (2.18-3.46) Smoking*Alcohol use 1.98 (1.65-2.37)	Smoking*Alcohol use 1.64 (1.34-2.00)	Background variable         Age group         Smoking*Unhealthy diet           20-34         1.40 (1.19-1.65)         35-49         1.64 (1.41-1.92)           35-49         1.64 (1.41-1.92)         50-64         1.93 (1.63-2.28)           Education         Alcohol use*Inactivity         0-9 years         1.48 (1.26-1.74)           10-12 years         1.34 (1.15-1.55)         1.10 (0.94-1.28)           Married         Smoking*Unhealthy diet         Smoking*Alcohol use           Capital area         2.13 (1.67-2.73)         1.64 (1.34-2.00)
1.02 (0.89-1.17)	2.70 (2.38-3.07)	2.13 (1.89-2.40)	1.62 (1.41-1.86)
1.02 (0.89-1.17)	2./0(2.38-3.0/)	2.13 (1.89-2.40)	1.62 (1.41-1.86)
1.02 (0.02-1.17)	7.10 (4.30-3.07)	7.13 (1.09-2.40)	1.02 (1.41-1.00)
1.02 (0.89-1.17)	2.70 (2.38-3.07)	2.13 (1.89-2.40)	1.62 (1.41-1.86)
0.95 (0.79-1.15)	1.98 (1.65-2.37)	1.64 (1.34-2.00)	2.13 (1.67-2.73)
Alcohol use*Inactivity	Smoking*Alcohol use	Smoking*Alcohol use	Smoking*Unhealthy diet
	2.75 (2.18-3.46)		
	3.38 (2.79-4.09)		
	2.40 (2.15-2.68)		
	Smoking*Alcohol use		
1.51 (1.24-1.84)	2.69 (2.34-3.09)		1.10 (0.94-1.28)
1.66 (1.39-1.98)	2.56 (2.20-2.98)		1.34 (1.15-1.55)
1.19 (0.99-1.43)	3.72 (3.12-4.43)		1.48 (1.26-1.74)
Smoking*Unhealthy diet	Smoking*Alcohol use		Alcohol use*Inactivity
			1.93 (1.63-2.28)
			1.64 (1.41-1.92)
			1.40 (1.19-1.65)
			Smoking*Unhealthy diet
			able
	Women		

Sociodemographic differences in the associations between health behaviours were few. Only nine out of 48 possible associations showed statistically significant differences. Table 9 shows the pairs in which differences were detected. For men, the association between high alcohol use and physical inactivity was the weaker, the higher the educational attainment. The association between smoking and unhealthy diet was stronger for the older and the higher the degree of urbanisation of the living area. The association between smoking and high alcohol use was stronger in the less urbanised areas. For women, the association between smoking and high alcohol use showed most variation; this association was strongest among the least educated, single women and in the less urbanised areas. Furthermore, the association between smoking and unhealthy diet was weakest among the least educated, and the association between high alcohol use and physical inactivity was found only among rural women.

The prevalence of the individual unhealthy behaviours differs notably across sociodemographic groups (see Table 1). Since the prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours and the strength of their association together determine the distribution of the behaviours within the sociodemographic groups, we also examined sociodemographic differences in the co-occurrence of unhealthy behaviours. The results showed that even if the associations between health behaviours were relatively similar in all sociodemographic groups, variation in their co-occurrence was remarkable (III).

# 6.4 Longitudinal associations between health behaviours

# 6.4.1 Health behaviours as predictors of each other

Pairwise associations between health behaviours were finally studied longitudinally (IV). The first aim was to examine whether each of the behaviours predicted other behaviours seven years later. In both genders, smoking at the baseline was associated with high alcohol use, inactivity and unhealthy diet in the follow-up (Table 10). In addition, smoking predicted overweight in women. High alcohol use predicted smoking in both genders, as well as physical inactivity in women. Compared with the initially active, those who were physically inactive at the baseline were more likely to have an unhealthy diet in the follow-up in both men and women. Furthermore, physical inactivity predicted overweight in women. Men with an unhealthy diet were more likely to be smokers and inactive, and less likely to be high alcohol users, than those with a healthy diet at the baseline. Being overweight was not associated with changes in any health behaviours in either gender.

, **.P** 

**Table 10.** Unhealthy behaviours at the baseline as predictors of each of the other behaviours in the follow-up by gender. Odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals, adjusted for age and the outcome behaviour at the baseline

	Baseline measur	rement			
Follow-up	Smoking	High alcohol use	Inactivity	Unhealthy diet	High BMI
Men					
Smoking		1.5 (1.09-2.09)	1.2 (0.87-1.59)	1.5 (1.07-2.04)	1.2 (0.82-1.68)
High alcohol use	1.5 (1.18-1.88)	,	0.9 (0.73-1.16)	0.7 (0.58-0.96)	1.1 (0.85-1.44)
Inactivity	1.5 (1.20-1.92)	1.2 (0.91-1.50)	,	1.6 (1.28-2.07)	0.9 (0.72-1.24)
Unhealthy diet	1.3 (1.01-1.71)	1.1 (0.79-1.43)	1.3 (1.01-1.71)		0.8 (0.62-1.15)
High BMI	1.0 (0.76-1.29)	1.0 (0.74-1.30)	1.0 (0.74-1.25)	1.2 (0.95-1.63)	
Women	,	, ,	•		
Smoking		1.7 (1.23-2.38)	1.2 (0.90-1.72)	1.2 (0.87-1.75)	1.2 (0.82-1.80)
High alcohol use	1.7 (1.34-2.14)	,	1.1 (0.86-1.32)	0.8 (0.66-1.07)	0.9 (0.67-1.13)
Inactivity	1.4 (1.12-1.80)	1.3 (1.04-1.66)	,	1.1 (0.88-1.41)	1.3 (0.97-1.63)
Unhealthy diet	1.5 (1.15-1.99)	1.0 (0.73-1.30)	1.5 (1.14-1.86)	, ,	1.2 (0.92-1.59)
High BMI	1.4 (1.06-1.80)	1.0 (0.78-1.31)	1.4 (1.14-1.81)	1.1 (0.88-1.44)	

## 6.4.2 Concurrent changes in health behaviours

The second set of the longitudinal analyses examined whether changes in each health behaviour were accompanied by changes in the other behaviours. Table 11 shows concurrent changes in health behaviours in men. Smoking cessation was associated with an increase in physical activity (a positive change in inactivity). Quitters were also less likely to decrease physical activity (a negative change in inactivity) than those who continued smoking. Furthermore, smoking initiation was associated with an increase in physical inactivity. Quitters were more likely to gain weight than persistent smokers and smoking initiators were more likely to lose weight than those who remained non-smokers. Those who increased alcohol use were more likely to gain weight and less likely to lose weight than those who maintained a moderate

**Table 11.** Concurrent changes in health behaviours among men. Odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals, adjusted for age

	Both changes positive	First mentioned positive, second mentioned negative	First mentioned negative, second mentioned positive	Both changes negative
Smoking*Alcohol use	0.7 (0.33-1.66)	0.8 (0.45-1.36)	0.5 (0.16-1.57)	1.2 (0.52-2.58)
Smoking*Inactivity	2.3 (1.19-4.63)	0.5 (0.23-0.99)	0.8 (0.29-2.09)	2.4 (1.12-4.97)
Smoking*Diet	2.1 (0.85-5.45)	1.2 (0.61-2.48)	1.2 (0.36-3.79)	1.4 (0.51-3.79)
Smoking*BMI	0.7 (0.12-3.79)	3.5 (2.03-6.19)	8.4 (1.49-47.64)	1.4 (0.67-3.09)
Alcohol use*Inactivity	0.9 (0.37-1.99)	0.9 (0.45-1.69)	1.1 (0.60-1.85)	1.2 (0.79-1.93)
Alcohol use*Diet	1.1 (0.34-3.51)	0.7 (0.30-1.63)	1.0 (0.50-2.09)	1.0 (0.59-1.74)
Alcohol use*BMI	0.5 (0.14-1.65)	1.3 (0.66-2.50)	0.3 (0.10-0.89)	1.9 (1.24-2.80)
Inactivity*Diet	0.8 (0.41-1.67)	0.6 (0.30-1.21)	0.8 (0.37-1.67)	0.7 (0.33-1.46)
Inactivity*BMI	1.7 (0.54-5.46)	0.9 (0.52-1.71)	0.5 (0.14-1.64)	1.2 (0.71-1.87)
Diet*BMI	2.4 (0.71-8.30)	1.4 (0.70-2.61)	0.5 (0.14-1.63)	1.7 (1.01-2.79)

level of alcohol use. In addition, a decrease in alcohol use tended to be inversely associated with weight loss, but this association did not reach statistical significance. Dietary change in an unhealthy direction was associated with an increase in body weight. Furthermore, weight loss tended to be often accompanied by an improvement in diet and rarely by a negative change in diet, but neither of these associations reached statistical significance.

In women, few statistically significant associations were observed (Table 12). Smoking initiation was associated with an increase in alcohol use. The positive association between smoking and alcohol use also received slight support from the tendency that a positive change in either of these behaviours was unlikely to be accompanied by a negative change in the other one. These two inverse associations were not statistically significant, however. Smoking cessation tended to be positively associated with an increase and inversely associated with a decrease in physical activity, but unlike in men these associations were not statistically significant in women. Women who initiated smoking were less likely to gain weight than those who remained non-smokers. The inverse relationship between smoking and body weight was also supported by the tendency of weight loss to be associated positively with smoking initiation and inversely with smoking cessation, but these associations did not reach statistical significance. A decrease in physical activity was accompanied by a negative change in diet.

**Table 12.** Concurrent changes in health behaviours among women. Odds ratios with the 95% confidence intervals, adjusted for age

	Both changes positive	First mentioned positive, second mentioned negative	First mentioned negative, second mentioned positive	Both changes negative
Smoking*Alcohol use	0.7 (0.32-1.58)	0.5 (0.26-1.13)	0.4 (0.16-1.04)	4.3 (2.33-7.84)
Smoking*Inactivity	2.1 (0.92-5.00)	0.6 (0.29-1.33)	1.6 (0.64-3.85)	1.3 (0.59-2.66)
Smoking*Diet	1.9 (0.57-6.57)	0.6 (0.27-1.29)	0.9 (0.26-3.16)	1.5 (0.67-3.57)
Smoking*BMI	0.1 (0.00-1.32)	1.3 (0.70-2.30)	2.1 (0.54-8.17)	0.3 (0.09-0.94)
Alcohol use*Inactivity	0.6 (0.30-1.30)	1.2 (0.66-2.25)	0.9 (0.52-1.43)	0.8 (0.51-1.23)
Alcohol use*Diet	1.2 (0.36-4.19)	0.8 (0.39-1.68)	2.0 (0.97-4.23)	1.0 (0.65-1.66)
Alcohol use*BMI	1.3 (0.22-7.88)	1.7 (0.95-2.90)	0.4 (0.14-1.31)	1.1 (0.76-1.59)
Inactivity*Diet	1.6 (0.71-3.63)	0.7 (0.41-1.37)	0.6 (0.30-1.22)	2.1 (1.28-3.38)
Inactivity*BMI	1.3 (0.29-5.75)	1.1 (0.68-1.74)	0.4 (0.14-1.32)	1.3 (0.89-2.03)
Diet*BMI	1.3 (0.38-4.29)	0.7 (0.38-1.18)	1.8 (0.78-4.26)	0.8 (0.49-1.37)

#### 7 DISCUSSION

## 7.1 Overview of the main findings

The purpose of this study was to examine interrelationships among daily health behaviours and sociodemographic variation in these interrelationships among Finnish adults. The study sought to maintain a neutral perspective, examining multiple associations between the behaviours and several pairwise associations among them in parallel.

Several pairwise associations between health behaviours were observed. The findings agree quite well with previous studies. The association between smoking and high alcohol use proved to be especially strong in women, while the association between smoking and physical inactivity was more pronounced in men. There was no association between smoking and overweight, which is somewhat unexpected. However, neither was such an association observed in another Finnish study based on data from the 1970s (Rissanen et al. 1991), and a more recent study found that smokers weighed less than never-smokers only at the lowest educational level (Laaksonen et al. 1998). While the previous findings on the association between alcohol use and the other health behaviours (except smoking) have been inconsistent and the associations observed generally moderate, the present study established that unhealthy diet was positively associated with physical inactivity but inversely associated with high alcohol use. In agreement with our results, several studies reviewed by Hellerstedt and co-workers (1990) reported a positive association between alcohol use and relative weight in men but an inverse association in women. In comparison with the previous observational studies, fairly clear pairwise associations were observed between physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and being overweight.

All associations could not be reduced to pairwise associations, however. In both genders, a three-behaviour association between smoking, alcohol use and physical activity was observed. In addition, a three-behaviour association between alcohol use, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet was detected in men. In these combinations the association between any two behaviours was different depending on the third behaviour. While in most cases only the strength of the association varied according to the third behaviour, in the case of alcohol use and physical inactivity the direction of the association was also reversed.

Some of the associations observed may be more easily interpreted than others. For the positive association between smoking and alcohol use, for example, several alternative explanations have been offered (Bien and Burge 1990, Shiffman and Balabanis 1995). These explanations range from those relying on physiological mechanisms to others building on social and situational linkages. The explanations are not mutually exclusive but in certain cultural settings some of them may be more important than others. Instead, for some of the associations observed a clear substantive interpretation may be harder to think of.

For the three-behaviour association of smoking, alcohol use and physical activity observed in both genders, one possible interpretation relates to the "hedonic" character of these behaviours. While many people may see smoking and alcohol use to be bad for their health but still a pleasurable activity, physical activity may be seen to be beneficial for health but unpleasant. However, other explanations relating to the social and cultural dimensions of these behaviours or to general personality features, such as susceptibility to addictions, must also be recognised. This three-behaviour association is certainly largely based on the relationship of smoking with high alcohol use and physical inactivity, but also the combination of high alcohol use and physical inactivity may play a part here. This combination turned out to be the most vacillating: high alcohol use and physical in activity showed a positive association among smokers and among men with unhealthy diet, but not among non-smokers or men eating healthily. This combination may therefore have potential for the accumulation of several unhealthy behaviours when other behaviours are unhealthy.

The association between physical inactivity and unhealthy diet was also strong. This finding may point to another dimension of health behaviour that is separate from the use of the psychoactive substances, smoking and alcohol use. Both physical inactivity and unhealthy diet were also consistently related to the BMI, although perhaps more weakly than with each other. In contemporary societies, physical appearance has become an increasingly important issue, not least because it has been related to the themes of self-expression and self-identity (Featherstone 1991, Giddens 1991). Physical appearance can be affected by lifestyle choices, in which weight control is centrally involved. Choices related to physical activity and diet may therefore be centred around social values relating to body shape and physical appearance.

Although clear associations were observed between health behaviours, their distribution into different combinations was quite diverse. People behaving unhealthily in one respect were spread to numerous categories according to their other behaviours. For most people, health behaviour patterns consisted of both healthy and unhealthy components. Some combinations of unhealthy behaviours were relatively common, reflecting the prevalence of their individual constituents. This finding is consistent with the previous Finnish studies, reporting few people behaving unhealthily in several respects (Karisto et al. 1993, Prättälä et al. 1994), and similar to foreign studies (Blaxter 1990, Patterson et al. 1994) which have found mixed health behaviour patterns for most people.

The combination of all four unhealthy behaviours was more prevalent than expected if the behaviours were independent of each other, as were most combinations of three of them. The proportion of those with three or four unhealthy behaviours differed with respect to most of the sociodemographic background characteristics examined. Adjusting for other background characteristics did not diminish the differences. On the contrary, differences between age groups and educational categories tended to increase. Interactions between the sociodemographic characteristics were few. While some of the sociodemographic determinants tend to correlate with each other, these findings suggest that sociodemographic characteristics are relatively independent determinants of multiple unhealthy behaviours in the sense that they are not reducible or conditional to each other. The effect of having several unfavourable sociodemographic characteristics seems therefore to be cumulative. Even if behaving unhealthily in several respects is uncommon on the whole, in some population subgroups it may be common.

Sociodemographic differences in the associations between health behaviours were few. Furthermore, the differences observed were not consistent with respect to any of the sociodemographic characteristics. Even when differences were observed, only the strength of the association varied. High alcohol use and physical inactivity were not associated in urban women, but none of the health behaviour pairs showed a positive association in one sociodemographic group and an inverse association in another. Smoking was involved in most pairs that showed sociodemographic differences. Among women, differences were most often observed in the association between smoking and high alcohol use, yet this association was very strong in all sociodemographic groups. Three of the pairs (smoking and physical inactivity, high alcohol use and unhealthy diet, and physical inactivity and unhealthy diet) did not show differences with respect to any of the sociodemographic characteristics for either gender.

Given the clear sociodemographic variation in the prevalence of individual health behaviours, the similarity of their associations across sociodemographic groups is somewhat unexpected. However, since the prevalence of individual health behaviours and the strength of their association together determine how unhealthy behaviours are distributed, their co-occurrence varied remarkably across sociodemographic groups. Unequal distribution of health behaviours is likely to contribute to sociodemographic differences in morbidity and mortality (Davey Smith et al. 1994, Stronks et al. 1996). Since the associations between health behaviours were relatively similar across sociodemographic groups, these findings suggest that the excess risk posed by multiple unhealthy behaviours to any particular group is primarily determined by the high prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours and only slightly modified by differences in the strength of their associations.

Several longitudinal associations between health behaviours were also detected. Smoking at the baseline predicted all other unhealthy behaviours but not being overweight in men. However, other behaviours also tended to predict smoking, although not all of these associations were statistically significant. Concurrent changes in health behaviours related to either smoking or body weight. Only in a few cases comparable changes were observed in both negative and positive directions. The results thus suggest that positive and negative health behaviour changes contribute differently to their existing associations. This is plausible since adoption and abandonment of health behaviours typically occur in different phases of the life cycle and can therefore be expected to have unmatching behavioural correlates.

All analyses were carried out separately for men and women. Gender differences in health behaviours are often anticipated because men and women occupy different roles and encounter different expectations. Empirical studies have indicated that men behave unhealthily more often than women, with the general exception of freetime physical activity (Cockerham 2000, Helakorpi 2000). However, the sociodemographic patterning of health behaviour is in many respects similar in both genders (Lahelma et al. 1997, Helakorpi et al. 2000). The present study showed that the associations between health behaviours were also largely similar in men and women. Some differences were evident, however: body weight and alcohol use were positively associated in men but inversely associated in women. Furthermore, changes in body weight were dissimilarly associated with changes in alcohol use and diet. In addition to the three-behaviour association between smoking, alcohol use and physical inactivity detected in both genders, there was also a three-behaviour association between alcohol use, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity in men. Furthermore, sociodemographic patterning of the associations was relatively similar in men and women. Indeed, few differences in the associations were detected between the sociodemographic groups in both genders. Sociodemographic determinants of having multiple unhealthy behaviours were also quite similar in men and women.

In order to evaluate their relative importance, all health behaviours were treated equally throughout the study. The results strongly suggest a primary role for smoking. In the pairwise analyses smoking was positively associated with all other unhealthy behaviours. Smoking appeared in most of the combinations that were more prevalent than expected assuming the behaviours independent of each other, and appeared alone less frequently than expected. However, it should be noted that the majority of smokers either only smoked or had only one other unhealthy habit. In the longitudinal analyses smoking was involved in most of the associations observed. Smoking predicted all other unhealthy behaviours but not being overweight in men. However, several other unhealthy behaviours also tended to predict smoking. Concurrent changes in health behaviours involved a change in either smoking or body weight.

Why does smoking seem to play as central a role in the associations between unhealthy behaviours? Among the behaviours examined, smoking stands out as the most distinctive unhealthy habit. In public discussion, harmful health consequences of smoking may even have become increasingly emphasised over time. Nowadays few people deny the risks of long-term smoking. Smoking may thus be a marker of people for whom health is not a salient issue, and therefore these people are also more likely to engage in other health-damaging behaviours. However, it is likely that smoking is just one important component in a broader constellation of behaviours that emerges from the overall way of life. Consequently, smoking should be considered not only as a separate health behaviour or together with other health-related behaviours, but as a part of other everyday activities, social interaction and time consumption.

# 7.2 Methodological considerations

The data used in the study were based on postal surveys. Postal surveys are usually considered rather efficient and reliable means of data collection, although several possible sources of bias exist, the main bias arising from inadequate sampling, incomplete response and inaccurate reporting.

Data in studies I-III derived from annually repeated cross-sectional surveys. Each survey was based on a large representative random sample with a reasonable, although gradually decreasing response rate. The response activity has been higher for women than for men and increased with age and educational attainment (Helasoja 1998, Keski-Karhu 1998). Little is known whether respondents differ from non-respondents in their health behaviour. Comparison between the early and late respondents did not point to remarkable underestimation of smoking (Berg et al. 1993), but nonrespondents were likely to consume higher amounts of alcohol than those who agreed to participate (Helasoja 1998). Other studies have found differences in smoking, alcohol use and physical activity between respondents and non-respondents, although not always in the expected direction (Smith and Nutbeam 1990, Hill et al. 1997). The present study focused on the associations between health behaviours. Selective drop-out may lead to underestimation of the true associations if those with several unhealthy behaviours are less likely to respond than those with fewer of them. Sociodemographic differences may also be larger than observed if the members of those groups where unhealthy behaviours are frequent are less willing to participate. However, such differences would have to be considerable to have a significant effect.

Since relying on self-reports, this study is susceptible to bias resulting from inaccurate reporting. The questions concerned relatively regular and presumably long-standing behaviours and, when retrospective, did not go back to the distant past. Recall bias is therefore likely to be modest. However, people may either consciously or

unconsciously distort their answers in order to present themselves in a more flattering light, especially since many of the behaviours examined may be considered sensitive issues and subject to social approval or disapproval. Respondents may tend to report answers that are believed to be expected and accepted. Therefore, the results may underestimate the strength of the associations between the behaviours.

Follow-up data of the respondents to the surveys of 1989 and 1990 were used in study IV. Considering the length of the follow-up period the response rates were reasonable. With a follow-up data a twofold drop-out is experienced, but of primary interest is the change between the surveys. Respondents and non-respondents to the follow-up can be compared by their answers to the baseline measurement. Comparison of the background characteristics showed that the non-respondents were somewhat younger and less educated than the respondents to the follow-up. After adjusting for age, both male and female non-respondents had poorer diets than the respondents (p<0.001). Male non-respondents were also more often smokers (p<0.001) and inactive (p=0.003) than those who agreed to participate. Non-respondents did not differ from respondents with respect to alcohol use or body weight.

Table 13 shows baseline associations between the behaviours among those who responded to the follow-up and those who did not. In general, differences between the respondents and the non-respondents were quite small. Some of the associations observed among the respondents seemed to be slightly stronger among the non-respondents. When there was no association between the behaviours among the respondents, neither was such an association found among those who refused to participate in the follow-up. How these differences may influence the longitudinal findings of this study is doubtful, but possibly the associations of moderate strength are slightly underestimated.

**Table 13.** Baseline associations between health behaviours among the respondents and non-respondents to the follow-up by gender

	Men		Women	
	Respondents	Non-respondents	Respondents	Non-respondents
Smoking*Alcohol use	1.9 (1.55-2.34)	2.6 (1.97-3.50)	3.7 (3.02-4.53)	4.2 (2.81-6.24)
Smoking*Inactivity	2.0 (1.61-2.36)	2.2 (1.65-2.90)	1.8 (1.45-2.18)	1.7 (1.20-2.50)
Smoking*Diet	1.7 (1.39-2.09)	2.1 (1.56-2.78)	1.4 (1.11-1.73)	1.8 (1.22-2.62)
Smoking*BMI	1.0 (0.79-1.24)	1.0 (0.70-1.37)	1.1 (0.84-1.40)	0.7 (0.45-1.20)
Alcohol use*Inactivity	1.1 (0.85-1.30)	1.1 (0.82-1.51)	1.2 (1.01-1.51)	1.0 (0.65-1.46)
Alcohol use*Diet	1.1 (0.91-1.41)	0.9 (0.63-1.21)	0.9 (0.75-1.17)	1.1 (0.69-1.63)
Alcohol*BMI	1.3 (0.99-1.61)	1.1 (0.79-1.62)	0.8 (0.65-1.07)	0.8 (0.47-1.35)
Inactivity*Diet	2.0 (1.67-2.49)	1.8 (1.31-2.39)	1.5 (1.20-1.76)	1.9 (1.36-2.76)
Inactivity*BMI	1.2 (1.00-1.55)	1.6 (1.13-2.19)	1.3 (1.01-1.55)	1.7 (1.12-2.54)
Diet*BMI	1.4 (1.09-1.72)	0.9 (0.63-1.29)	1.3 (1.04-1.60)	1.1 (0.74-1.71)

The social desirability bias can be encountered also in a follow-up data. If those who distort their answers in one behaviour also do so in the other behaviours, this could attenuate the associations observed. However, in longitudinal studies the social desirability bias is likely to be smaller than in cross-sectional studies, as the bias has already been partly controlled in the initial survey (Stott and Pill 1992).

Overall, the indicators of the unhealthy behaviours were fairly general. Each behaviour was measured with one or a couple of simple questions. However, in epidemiological studies even simple measures of health behaviours have proved to be predictive of mortality from the chronic diseases (Wingard et al. 1982, Theobald et al. 1999). Moreover, although the view about people's health behaviour provided by postal surveys of this kind is necessarily rather crude, the data are adequate to examine differences between broad sociodemographic groups.

The validity of self-reports has often been questioned, especially as regards smoking, alcohol use and overweight. Self-reported smoking can generally be considered rather reliable (Patrick et al. 1994). The smoking questions used in this study have been validated with cotinine tests using data from North Karelia (Laatikainen et al. 1999). The underreporting of smoking proved to be only moderate. If all non-smokers with serum cotinine level exceeding 10 ng/ml were considered daily smokers, the prevalence of smoking increased from 29% to 32% among men and from 13% to 16% among women. Underreporters did not differ from accurate reporters with respect to the sociodemographic background variables examined. Also estimates from the present survey suggest a slight underestimation of the prevalence of smoking (Keski-Karhu 1998).

The amount of alcohol use may be considerably underestimated in self-reports. Postal surveys capture only a small proportion of the consumption recorded in the sales statistics. In accordance with other studies (Simpura et al. 1997), the consumption reported in the present survey was slightly less than half of the official consumption (Helasoja 1998). This is likely to mainly follow from two reasons. First, alcoholics and heavy drinkers, consuming approximately half of all alcohol in Finland (Mustonen et al. 1999), are presumably more likely not to respond at all. Second, those who participate tend to underestimate their consumption. In the present study the exact measurement of alcohol use was not crucial because the values were not used as such but people were only ranked according to their consumption. If the respondents at all levels of alcohol use underestimate their consumption similarly, the results will not be affected. There is some evidence, however, that heavier alcohol users tend to distort their answers more than moderate alcohol users (Poikolainen 1995). Nevertheless, this is unlikely to substantially alter people's relative standing regarding their alcohol use.

Since there has recently been much debate about the healthfulness of moderate alcohol consumption, underestimation of alcohol use is a particularly prominent issue. There is evidence that the risk posed by alcohol consumption would be J-shaped, at least concerning coronary hearth disease and stroke (Poikolainen 1995, Svardsudd 1998). However, some of the beneficial effect attributed to moderate alcohol use may be explained by other healthy habits of moderate drinkers (Andreasson 1998, Chick 1998). Unpublished analyses of the present data showed that, with the cut-off points used in study I and elsewhere (Luoto et al. 1998), the overall mortality was considerably higher among heavier alcohol users, whereas cardiovascular mortality, although based on relatively few cases, showed higher rates among lower alcohol users (Riitta Luoto, personal communication 26 March 1999). The cut-off points used for heavy drinking in the present study are within the safe limits. However, although moderate drinking may be beneficial to health compared with abstaining, heavier drinkers under focus here still have the greatest risk of all.

On average, relying on self-reports underestimates people's actual weight. The reporting bias may not be independent of the respondents' weight, however. What is called the flat slope syndrome suggests that overweight people tend to underreport their weights while the underweight may be inclined to overestimates (Kuskowska-Wolk et al. 1992). In a Finnish study (Jalkanen et al. 1987), women mostly underreported their weights whereas in men divergence from the accurate weight was observed in both directions. Underreporting was larger among women than men and more common among younger people than the older. Slight differences were also observed by family income, and by educational level and living area among women. Overall, however, differences between self-reported and measured weights were small. In the present study people belonging to the highest quartile of relative weight were considered being overweight. While not matching exactly with any of the various cut-points commonly used for overweight or obesity (Kuczmarski et al. 1994, WHO 1998), this classification provided a reasonable borderline for overweight. It is unlikely that differences in underreporting between lighter and heavier respondents are so large that those classified as being overweight would not represent heavier respondents.

With regard to physical activity and diet, the potential bias introduced by reliance on self-reports cannot be excluded, but in the measurement of these behaviours other limitations may be more prominent. Only free-time physical exercise was considered here. Several areas of activity equally or perhaps even more important for health, including work-related activity, activity earned in commuting to and from work, and other activities of lower intensity such as household work or gardening, were omitted. Concentrating exclusively on free-time physical activity is commonplace in health behaviour and health lifestyle research. This practice may be justified as free-time physical activity more clearly than some other forms of activity involves the element

of choice, but may be criticised for being based on middle class values and ways of life. The cut-off point for inadequate physical activity was again relatively low. In order to contribute to good health, physical activity has to be carried out regularly and with sufficient intensity. However, even moderate physical activity is beneficial compared with totally sedentary behaviour (European Heart Network 1999).

A sum index was used as an indicator of dietary behaviour. The index was based on the frequency of consumption of three selected foods that may contribute to chronic disease occurrence. Saturated fat use (Kromhout et al. 1995, Nelson 1998) was measured by the fat content of milk drank and the type of spread used on bread. Although the validity of these conventional indicators of dietary fat intake may have decreased since the consumption of cheese has increased and the sources of fat have become more versatile, they are still among the best indicators of saturated fat content of the diet (Roos et al. 1995). The intake of bread is related to the consumption of dietary fibre (Kritchevsky and Bonfield 1997) and that of vegetables to the intake of antioxidant vitamins (Steinmetz and Potter 1996, Ness and Powles 1997). Critique has been presented towards additive scoring of diverse health-related practices (Slater and Linder 1988, Dean and Salem 1998). However, as a measure of the overall quality of diet a combination of three components was preferred to the choice of any single food.

Health behaviours examined in this study were measured using different scales. In order to handle them uniformly, all health behaviour variables were dichotomised. A limitation that follows from this procedure is that some information is lost when categories are combined. Furthermore, the cut-off points could not be determined merely on the basis of the supposed health effects of engaging in these behaviours. With respect to the current recommendations, some of the cut-off points used in this study were relatively low. Nevertheless, the cut-off points are always somewhat conventional and there is no strict limit where the health risk associated with these behaviours would sharply increase.

The cut-off points were partly determined by practical reasons. It was necessary for the methods used that the proportion of those behaving unhealthily in each behaviour was roughly equal. Approximately one quarter of the respondents were classified as behaving unhealthily in each respect. Some cut-off points were different for men and women, making exact numerical comparison of the results between the genders unwarranted. The cut-off points also varied slightly between the studies. In studies I, III and IV pairwise associations between health behaviours were examined using slightly different cut-off points. The associations are broadly similar, suggesting that the results are not highly sensitive to the cut-off points used.

# 7.3 Towards health-related lifestyle

This study examined associations among health behaviours and sociodemographic differences in these associations relying on the health-related lifestyle concept. Here, the suitability of the concept for health behaviour research is viewed, especially as regards the data and the methods applied in the present study.

Four health behaviours were included in the study. As these behaviours are entwined with the daily routines and more or less spontaneously practised, they constitute a consistent and meaningful set. These behaviours also have well-established effects on the major chronic disease outcomes. However, considering the comprehensiveness of the notion of lifestyle, concentrating on only four behaviours may not be entirely satisfactory. This limitation may also affect the interpretations given to the associations observed. While health-related lifestyles may include components that have either adverse or beneficial consequences for health, they should nevertheless form coherent entities. As part of everyday life, health behaviours included in this study have several other meanings not related to health. The coherence and meaningfulness of the health behaviour patterns may spring from their other meanings, but examining only a few behaviours selected on the basis of their potential health effects may not reveal their meaningfulness in these other contexts.

In addition to behaviours, values, attitudes and orientations have sometimes been considered to be part of health-related lifestyle (Aarø et al. 1986, Abel 1991). These elements were not included in the present study. This is not to deny or underestimate their importance in explaining health behaviour or their potential as equally informative indicators of lifestyles as the actual behaviour. However, these factors can also be seen as intermediary factors between the social environment and behaviour, which get their ultimate expression at the level of behaviour (Veal 1993). Moreover, examining only sociodemographic background characteristics neglects a range of cultural and situational determinants of health behaviour. While these factors are undeniably important in explaining health behaviour and health behaviour patterns, this study followed the usual conceptualisations of health lifestyles that concentrate on their sociodemographic determinants.

All conceptualisations of lifestyles include the element of individual choice. One feature of the behaviours examined, especially smoking and drinking, that seems to contradict this element is their addictive nature. In the health-related lifestyle approach choices are not considered to be entirely free, but addiction is not usually included among the factors that constrain them. Addiction may make abandonment of these behaviours more difficult than it would otherwise be. Also illnesses and other "force majeure" factors may similarly influence the adoption or abandonment of one specific behaviour and thus interfere with the emergence of health behaviour patterns.

The concept of lifestyle is best suited to describe relatively stable and slowly changing phenomena. Health behaviours and their combinations are also assumed to be relatively stable and persistent over time. The concept of health-related lifestyle is often used to refer especially to long-term patterns of behaviour (Bruhn 1988, Green and Kreuter 1991, Abel and McQueen 1995). The stability of health behaviour is also supported by some empirical research (Breslow and Enström 1980, Stott and Pill 1992, Mulder et al. 1998). Differences observed between birth cohorts, for example in saturated fat use (Jousilahti et al. 1996) and smoking (Laaksonen et al. 1999), imply that generations may maintain typical features of health behaviour over time. However, sometimes people do change their health behaviours. The concept of health-related lifestyle is ill-suited to such situations, as it does not suggest what happens when changes take place in one health behaviour: should other behaviours change as well or should they remain unchanged? Longitudinal examination of the associations in study IV suggests that more theoretical attention should be paid to situations in which behaviours change. In study IV, pairwise associations between health behaviours were examined. Investigating the stability of multiple health behaviour patterns and whether longitudinal associations between health behaviours are influenced by other behaviours would have corresponded to the concept of lifestyle more fully. However, these findings are a step forward as they indicate that health behaviour changes are not independent of other behaviours.

As discussed above, the indicators of health behaviours used in this study were rather crude. The crudeness of the measurements may be seen to be problematic regarding the subject matter of this study, as differences in lifestyles may rest on subtle distinctions. Activities labelled here as health behaviours may be especially important for differentiation and integration owing to the high symbolic value attached to many of them. As traditional structural constraints may have weakened and identities based on them blurred, social distinctions increasingly derive from symbolic differences which, as it has been argued, have become finer and finer. It may be argued that tobacco brands rather than smoking as such makes the difference (Rahkonen 1994). Instead of the division between drinking and non-drinking the distinctions may be based on what you drink, and cross-country skiing may have entirely different social meaning than downhill skiing (Roos 1989), even if these activities were equally appraised in the health discourse. However, this may not be the only important level of distinctions. At a more general level, smoking itself continues to be an important symbol, and may even be growing in importance, especially when the public opinion about it seems to have turned more negative. Similarly, abstaining from drinking or exercise while commonly practised may be highly significant and distinctive. It is therefore reasonable to examine health-related lifestyles also at this level of these behaviours.

The sphere of the general lifestyle concept is broad. Because it has been used in several different and often unspecified meanings, even the need for the whole concept

has been questioned. What is essential in the concept is that it describes relatively stable and coherent patterns of behaviour influenced by external conditions. It may be argued that just the comprehensiveness is the strength of the concept. A concept that describes everyday life as a structured whole is needed (Sobel 1981, Allardt 1986, O'Brien 1995, Chaney 1996). The concept of health-related lifestyle faces similar problems. Most importantly, the number of possible behaviours to be included in its sphere is large and these behaviours can have several different meanings. Roos (1985, see Töttö 1997) has argued that the research on lifestyles should be based on qualitative methods, which may better grasp the specific meanings of actions and which do not have to be restricted to a predefined set of behaviours. However, the concept of lifestyle is equally valuable in quantitative studies that describe the whole of health-related behaviours. This study has shown that patterns of health behaviour exist and these patterns are in part socially structured.

# 7.4 Conclusions, implications and further research

Ever since chronic diseases replaced infectious diseases as the principal causes of morbidity and mortality, various forms of health behaviours have been important targets for public health efforts that are aimed at promoting health and preventing disease. During the last decades these efforts have gradually widened to encompass a broader and broader spectrum of activities. Although increasing attention has been paid to social, economic and environmental determinants of health, personal health behaviour remains a central target for health promotion (MacDonald and Bunton 1992, Downie et al. 1996).

Public health efforts that aim to increase healthy behaviours consist of activities undertaken at many levels, ranging from individual-level counselling to collective measures realised through health and social policies and working on the environmental determinants of these behaviours (Jones and Sidell 1997, Watson and Platt 2000). Viewing lifestyle as a socially structured whole would better seem to agree with the more comprehensive approaches in which administrative, legislative and other policy measures are used as the primary means of health promotion. When health behaviours are seen to be embedded in the routines of everyday life, promoting healthy behaviours will necessarily require attention to social norms, cultural values as well as socioeconomic and environmental circumstances in which these behaviours are practised. However, although health behaviour of the population is affected primarily through health and social policies, also interventions that target health behaviours more directly can have their own influence (Green and Kreuter 1991).

The lifestyle approach implies that since health behaviours are not only individual choices but economically and culturally constrained and more or less routinised

practices, health behaviours and their patterns are maintained with some consistency over time. A change in health behaviour therefore requires sustained efforts and, in addition to providing cues for action, attempts to promote healthy behaviours should involve breaking the routine of already established behaviours (Hunt and Martin 1988, Bennett and Murphy 1997).

Several associations between health behaviours were observed in this study. The finding that health behaviours are not unidimensional in relation to health suggests that motives other than health concern also determine their patterning. For successful health promotion it is important to consider what the non-health-related motives for engaging in these behaviours are. Attempts to promote healthy behaviours will be more adequate if they do not counter the demands of the social environment. The concept of health-related lifestyle is useful in drawing attention to the other meanings that health behaviours may have as part of people's everyday activities.

This study found that people behaving unhealthily in one respect were spread to numerous categories according to their other behaviours. Therefore, public health programmes directed to the presumably uniform groups of smokers or physically inactive, for example, may have reduced effectiveness. More effort should be devoted to profiling those with unhealthy behaviours. As a midway between the populationbased and the high-risk approaches (Rose 1992), identifying large population segments with unhealthy behaviours might be the most effective way of targeting public health programmes. Among the several kinds of correlates for health behaviours, sociodemographic characteristics have shown quite clear and consistent associations with various unhealthy behaviours. This study showed that while the associations between health behaviours were relatively similar across population groups, sociodemographic variation in their co-occurrence was also considerable. Even if sociodemographic differences in unhealthy behaviours are well-known, the use of this information in public health activities is limited (Prättälä et al. 1999). In spite of the favourable overall trends in many behaviours, differences between the population groups have not diminished. It seems that activities that have not been specifically targeted may not adequately benefit the population subgroups with the most need.

Since the risk of adverse health outcomes increases with the increasing number of unhealthy behaviours, those with multiple unhealthy behaviours form a particularly important target group for health behaviour interventions. Sociodemographic characteristics are relatively independent determinants of multiple unhealthy behaviours. Hence, in population groups with several unfavourable characteristics behaving unhealthily in several respects may be widespread. Special attention should be focused on these population groups and their social circumstances. However, as the effects of the sociodemographic characteristics are independent, decreasing the differences that exist with regard to any of the characteristics is already likely to reduce the risk associated with unhealthy behaviours in these subgroups.

Health behaviour interventions typically address health behaviours as separate entities. Since the behaviours are not practised independently of each other, the possibility of targeting several health behaviours at the same time is worth considering. Public health programmes might achieve greater benefits if interventions were purposefully tailored for specific health behaviour combinations.

There are arguments both in favour of and against multiple interventions. Some evidence suggests that the combined effect of at least some unhealthy behaviours would rather be synergistic than simply additive. Thus, larger reductions in morbidity and mortality might be achieved if those with several unhealthy behaviours would change their behaviour. The present study showed that the co-occurrence of several unhealthy behaviours was primarily determined by the prevalence of individual unhealthy behaviours and only slightly modified by how they were associated. This would render individual unhealthy behaviours the primary target for health promotion. However, associations between health behaviours may imply that these behaviours belong to larger combinations of behaviours that exceed the boundaries of sociodemographic groups. Also combinations of behaviours could therefore be targeted.

This study suggests a central role for smoking in the associations between health behaviours. Hence, by intervening in this behaviour we could possibly hope for favourable side-effects in other behaviours. In the forming of associations and lifestyle patterns one possibility is that one behaviour more or less directly leads to other behaviours. In this study many of the behaviours predicted other behaviours over seven years. As smoking played a primary role also as a predictor of other unhealthy behaviours, smoking could act as a behaviour that promotes the adoption or inhibits the abandonment of other health behaviours. However, other health behaviours also tended to predict smoking. Bidirectionality of the relationship may suggest that the behaviours result from common antecedents. In that case, prevention efforts would need to look beyond the immediate behaviours to address the factors that may initially predispose people to engage in them.

When one behaviour is changing, can we expect changes in other behaviours as well? Previous studies have provided contrasting findings. Furthermore, these findings often come from small-scale interventions implemented in a primary health care setting and may not apply to spontaneous changes in the general population. On the basis of the present study, certain changes in smoking and body weight can be expected to be accompanied by changes in other behaviours. However, these changes were not always parallel: positive changes were not necessarily associated with other positive changes and negative changes with negative ones. Concurrent changes found in this study to go together spontaneously should be taken into account in health

behaviour interventions by making efforts to support naturally occurring concurrent positive changes and to avoid negative changes related to them.

This study examined associations among health-related behaviours in Finland during the 1990s. Whether the findings are similar in other cultural settings or at some other point in time remains a question for further research. The present study concentrated on four behaviours practised on a daily basis. Among these behaviours, smoking seemed to play a primary role as a determinant of associations between and co-occurrence of the behaviours. The importance of smoking is prominent since it is the behaviour that poses the most explicit and definite risk to health. In future research and health promotion, special attention should be paid to the association between smoking and other health behaviours. Future research should also include a larger number of behaviours to further elucidate the interpretation of the associations among these behaviours within the health-related lifestyle approach.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Health Promotion Research Unit, Department of Epidemiology and Health Promotion, National Public Health Institute (KTL). I wish to thank KTL for providing me the research facilities and for the priviledge to use the extensive datasets gathered there. The Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki is to be thanked for the opportunity to squeeze some time from my other duties to finish the thesis.

I have been very fortunate to have three excellent supervisors. Without Ritva Prättälä's genuine interest in and enthusiasm for the topic this study would never have even started. I have always felt welcome to discuss with her about anything related to this study or other topics. Eero Lahelma has continually found time for reading and commenting on my manuscripts. His detailed comments have been to the point in every phase of the study. My third supervisor Antti Uutela has mainly stayed in the background but I have always been able to turn to him when needed.

The two official referees of the dissertation, Professor Arja Rimpelä and Professor Seppo Pöntinen, are gratefully acknowledged for their careful work and constructive criticism that helped to clarify the manuscript during the final steps. I also thank Ms. Terttu Rantalainen for carefully revising the English of the thesis.

I wish to thank all my co-authors, who kindly split some of their time to read and comment on the manuscripts. The one-term visit to the RUHBC in the University of Edinburgh provided me a break from the everyday routines and an opportunity to discuss the main ideas of this work with independent experts. I also thank all my colleagues at the Health Promotion Research Unit and all others who showed interest in how I was advancing with my dissertation.

This study received financial support from a sub-project granted to the Health Promotion Research Unit from the Health and Other Welfare Differences between Population Groups research programme by the Academy of Finland. The Doctoral Programs for Public Health graduate school (DPPH) provided financing for the study for two years.

Finally, I want to thank Katja for her support in the preparation of this thesis and, at the same time, for directing my attention to other interests of life.

Helsinki, April 2002

Mikko Laaksonen

## REFERENCES

Aarnio M, Kujala UM, Kaprio J. Associations of health-related behaviors, school type and health status to physical activity patterns in 16 year old boys and girls. Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine 1997;25:156–167.

Aarø LE, Laberg JC, Wold B. Health behaviours among adolescents: towards a hypothesis of two dimensions. Health Education Research 1995;10:83–93.

Aarø LE, Wold B, Kannas L, Rimpelä M. Health behaviour in schoolchildren. A WHO cross-national survey. A presentation of philosophy, methods and selected results of the first survey. Health Promotion 1986;1:17–33.

Abel T. Measuring health lifestyles in a comparative analysis: theoretical issues and empirical findings. Social Science & Medicine 1991;32:899–908.

Abel T, Cockerham WC, Niemann S. A critical approach to lifestyle and health. In: Watson J, Platt S (eds.). Researching health promotion. London: Routledge, 2000, pp. 54–77.

Abel T, Kohlmann T. Health lifestyles: a comparative approach to the culture of health concept. In: Lüschen G, Cockerham WC, Kunz G (eds.). Health and illness in America and Germany. München: Oldenbourg, 1989, pp. 71–82.

Abel T, McQueen DV. Health behaviour patterns and physical activity: an analysis of interrelations and their consistency over time. In: Bette K, Rütten A (eds.). International sociology of sport: contemporary issues. Stuttgart: Stephanie Nagelschmid, 1995, pp. 283–302.

Agudo A, Pera G, and the EPIC Group of Spain. Vegetable and fruit consumption associated with anthropometric, dietary and lifestyle factors in Spain. Public Health Nutrition 1999;2:263–271.

Allardt E. Elämäntapa, harkinta ja muoti ihmisen valintojen perustana. In: Heikkinen K (ed.). Kymmenen esseetä elämäntavasta. Helsinki: Yleisradio, 1986, pp. 3–32.

Anderson R. The devolopment of the concept of health behaviour and its application in recent research. In: Anderson R, Davis J, Kickbush I, McQueen DV, Turner J (eds.). Health behaviour research and health promotion. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988, pp. 22–35.

Andreasson S. Alcohol and J-shaped curves. Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research 1998;22:S359–364.

Arinen S, Häkkinen U, Klaukka T, Klavus J, Lehtonen R, Aro S. Health and the use of health services in Finland: main findings of the Finnish health care survey 1995/96 and changes from 1987. Helsinki: STAKES, 1998.

Aromaa A, Koskinen S, Huttunen J. Health in Finland. Helsinki: National Public Health Institute and Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 1999.

Astrup A. Macronutrient balances and obesity: the role of diet and physical activity. Public Health Nutrition 1999;2:341–347.

Backett K, Davison C. Lifecourse and lifestyle: the social and cultural location of health behaviours. Social Science & Medicine 1995;40:629–638.

Barrett DH, Anda RF, Croft JB, Serdula MK, Lane MJ. The association between alcohol use and health behaviors related to the risk of cardiovascular disease: the South Carolina Cardiovascular Disease Prevention Project. Journal of Studies on Alcohol 1995;56:9–15.

Bauman Z. Postmodern ethics. Oxford: Blackwell, 1993.

Belloc NB. Relationship of health practices and mortality. Preventive Medicine 1973;2:67–81.

Belloc NB, Breslow L. Relationship of physical health status and health practices. Preventive Medicine 1972;1:409–421.

Bennett P, Murphy S. Psychology and health promotion. Buckingham: Open University Press, 1997.

Berg MA. Ravitsemussuosituksiin liittyvien ruokatottumusten alue-erot ja niiden muutokset Suomessa. Väitöskirja, Helsingin yliopisto, Sosiologian laitos. Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja A1/2000, Helsinki, 2000.

Berg MA, Helakorpi S, Puska P. Health behaviour among Finnish adult population, Spring 1993. Helsinki: National Public Health Institute, 1993.

Berkman L, Breslow L. Health and ways of living. The Alameda County Study. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1983.

Bien TH, Burge R. Smoking and drinking: a review of the literature. International Journal of the Addictions 1990;25:1429–1454.

Blacconiere MJ, Oleckno WA. Health-promoting behaviours in public health: testing the health promotion model. Journal of the Royal Society of Health 1999;119:11–16.

Blair S, Jacobs D, Powell K. Relationships between exercise or physical activity and other health behaviours. Public Health Reports 1985;100:172–180.

Blair S, Kohl H, Brill P. Behavioural adaptation to physical activity. In: Bouchard C, Shephard R, Stephens T, Sutton J, McPherson B (eds.). Exercise, fitness and health: a consensus of current knowledge. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1990, pp. 385–398.

Blaxter M. Health and lifestyles. London: Tavistock/Routledge, 1990.

Bolton-Smith C, Woodward M, Brown CA, Tunstall-Pedoe H. Nutrient intake by duration of ex-smoking in the Scottish Heart Health Study. British Journal of Nutrition 1993;69:315–332.

Bourdieu P. Distinction: a social critique of the judgement of taste. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1984.

Boutelle KN, Murray DM, Jeffery RW, Hennrikus DJ, Lando HA. Associations between exercise and health behaviors in a community sample of working adults. Preventive Medicine 2000;30:217–224.

Breslow L, Enström JE. Persistence of health habits and their relationship to mortality. Preventive Medicine 1980;9:469–483.

Breslow N, Day N. Statistical methods in cancer research, vol. 1. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1980.

Brock BM, Haefner DP, Noble DS. Alameda County redux: replication in Michigan. Preventive Medicine 1988;17:483–495.

Bruhn JG. Life-style and health behavior. In: Gochman DS (ed.). Health behavior: emerging research perspectives. New York: Plenum Press, 1988, pp. 71–86.

Burke V, Milligan RA, Beilin LJ, Dunbar D, Spencer M, Balde E, Gracey MP. Clustering of health-related behaviours among 18-year-old Australians. Preventive Medicine 1997;26:724–733.

Burrows R, Nettleton S, Bunton R. Sociology and health promotion: health, risk and consumption under late modernism. In: Bunton R, Nettleton S, Burrows R (eds.). The sociology of health promotion. Critical analyses of consumption, lifestyle and risk. London: Routledge, 1995, pp. 1–9.

Calnan M. Patterns in preventive behaviour: a study of women in middle age. Social Science & Medicine 1985;20:263–268.

Calnan M. "Lifestyle" and its social meaning. Advances in Medical Sociology 1994;4:69–87.

Cavelaars AEJM. Cross-national comparisons of socio-economic differences in health indicators. Doctoral thesis, Erasmus University, Rotterdam, 1998.

Chaney D. Lifestyles. London: Routledge, 1996.

Chen Y, Horne SL, Dosman JA. The influence of smoking cessation on body weight may be temporary. American Journal of Public Health 1993;83:1330–1332.

Chick J. Alcohol, health, and the heart: implications for clinicians. Alcohol and Alcoholism 1998;33:576–591.

Cockerham WC. The sociology of health behavior and health lifestyles. In: Bird CE, Conrad P, Fremont AM (eds.). Handbook of medical sociology. 5th ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall, 2000, pp. 159–172.

Cockerham WC, Abel T, Lüschen G. Max Weber, formal rationality, and health lifestyles. The Sociological Quarterly 1993;34:413–425.

Cockerham WC, Rütten A, Abel T. Conceptualizing contemporary health lifestyles: moving beyond Weber. The Sociological Quarterly 1997;38:321–342.

Colditz GA, Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Speizer FE, Gordis E, Willett WC. Alcohol intake in relation to diet and obesity in women and men. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1991;54:49–55.

Coreil J, Levin J, Jaco E. Life style – an emergent concept in the sociomedical sciences. Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry 1985;9:423–437.

Coreil J, Levin JS. A critique of the lifestyle concept in public health education. International Journal of Community Health and Education 1985;5:103–114.

Dallongeville J, Marécaux N, Fruchart JC, Amouyel P. Cigarrette smoking is associated with unhealthy patterns of nutrient intake: a meta analysis. Journal of Nutrition 1998;128:1450–1457.

Davey Smith G, Blane D, Bartley M. Explanations for socio-economic differentials in mortality: evidence from Britain and elsewhere. European Journal of Public Health 1994;4:131–144.

Davis MA, Neuhaus JM, Moritz DJ, Lein D, Barclay JD, Murphy SP. Health behaviors and survival among middle-aged and older men and women in the NHANES I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. Préventive Medicine 1994;23:369–376.

Davison C, Davey Smith G. The baby and the bath water. Examining socio-cultural and free-market critiques of health promotion. In: Bunton R, Nettleton S, Burrows R (eds.). The sociology of health promotion. Critical analyses of consumption, lifestyle and risk. London: Routledge, 1995, pp. 91–99.

Dawson DA. Drinking as a risk factor for sustained smoking. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2000;59:235–249.

de Bourdeaudhuij I, van Oost P. A cluster-analytical approach toward physical activity and other health related behaviors. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 1999;31:605–612.

Dean K. Methodological issues in the study of health-related behaviour. In: Anderson R, Davis J, Kickbush I, McQueen DV, Turner J (eds.). Health behaviour research and health promotion. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988, pp. 83–99.

Dean K. Self-care components of lifestyles: the importance of gender, attitudes and the social situation. Social Science & Medicine 1989;29:137–152.

Dean K, Colomer C, Perez-Hoyos S. Research on lifestyles and health: searching for meaning. Social Science & Medicine 1995;41:845–855.

Dean K, Salem N. Detecting measurement confounding in epidemiological research: construct validity in scaling risk behaviours: based on a population sample in Minnesota, USA. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1998;52:195–199.

DiPietro L. Physical activity in the prevention of obesity: current evidence and research issues. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 1999;31:S542-546.

Doucet E, Tremblay A. Food intake, energy balance and body weight control. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1997;51:846–855.

Downie RS, Tannahill A, Tannahill C. Health promotion: models and values. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996.

Eaton CB, Reynes J, Assaf AR, Feldman H, Lasater T, Carleton RA. Predicting physical activity change in men and women in two New England communities. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1993;9:209–219.

Elämäntavan terveystutkimuksen työryhmän muistio. Suomen Akatemian julkaisuja 5/1980. Helsinki: Valtion lääketieteellinen toimikunta, 1980.

Emmons KM, Marcus BH, Linnan L, Rossi JS, Abrams DB. Mechanisms in multiple risk factor interventions: smoking, physical activity, and dietary fat intake among manufacturing workers. Preventive Medicine 1994;23:481–489.

European Commission. The state of health in the European Community: report from the Commission. Luxembourg: European Commission, 1996.

European Heart Network. Physical activity and cardiovascular disease prevention in the European Union. The European Hearth Network, 1999. Available at URL: http://www.ehnheart.org/pdf/activity.pdf. Accessed 28 March 2001.

Featherstone M. The body in consumer culture. In: Featherstone M, Hepworth M, Turner B (eds.). The body: social processes and cultural theory. London: Sage, 1991, pp. 170–196.

Fienberg S. The analysis of cross-classified categorial data. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1985.

Fogelholm M, Männistö S, Vartiainen E, Pietinen P. Determinants of energy balance and overweight in Finland 1982 and 1992. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1996;20:1097–1104.

Fox J. Applied regression analysis, linear models, and related methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1997.

French SA, Hennrikus DJ, Jeffery RW. Smoking status, dietary intake, and physical activity in a sample of working adults. Health Psychology 1996;15:448–454.

French SA, Jeffery RW, Forster JL, McGovern PG, Kelder SH, Baxter JE. Predictors of weight change over two years among a population of working adults: the Healthy Worker Project. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1994;18:145–154.

Froom P, Melamed S, Benbassat J. Smoking cessation and weight gain. Journal of Family Practice 1998;46:460–464.

Galambos NL, Tilton-Weaver LC. Multiple-risk behaviour in adolescents and young adults. Health Reports 1998;10:9–20.

Giddens A. Modernity and self-identity: self and society in the late modern age. Cambridge: Polity Press, 1991.

Gochman DS. Health behavior: plural perspectives. In: Gochman DS (ed.). Health behavior: emerging research perspectives. New York: Plenum Press, 1988, pp. 3–17.

Green L, Kreuter M. Health promotion planning: an educational and environmental approach. Mountain view, CA: Mayfield, 1991.

Haapanen N, Miilunpalo S, Pasanen M, Oja P, Vuori I. Association between leisure time physical activity and 10-year body mass change among working-aged men and

women. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1997:21:288-296.

Harris DM, Guten S. Health-protective behavior: an exploratory study. Journal of Health & Social Behavior 1979;20:17–29.

Hays R, Stacy AW, DiMatteo MR. Covariation among health-related behaviors. Addictive Behaviors 1984;9:315–318.

Helakorpi S, Uutela A, Prättälä R, Puska P. Health behaviour and health among Finnish adult population, Spring 2000. Helsinki: National Public Health Institute, 2000.

Helasoja V. Postikyselyaineiston ulkoisesta luotettavuudesta. Aikuisväestön terveyskäyttäytyminen -tutkimuksen vastaajajoukon edustavuus ja alkoholinkulutustietojen yleistettävyys. Pro gradu -tutkielma, Helsingin yliopisto, Sosiologian laitos. Helsinki, 1998.

Hellerstedt WL, Jeffery RW, Murray DM. The association between alcohol intake and adiposity in the general population. American Journal of Epidemiology 1990;132:594–611.

Hill A, Roberts J, Ewings P, Gunnell D. Non-response bias in a lifestyle survey. Journal of Public Health Medicine 1997;19:203–207.

Horton TJ, Hill JO. Exercise and obesity. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 1998;57:85–91.

Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1989.

Hunt SM, Martin CJ. Health-related behavioural change – a test of a new model. Psychology and Health 1988;2:209–230.

Ilmonen K. Sosiologia, rutiinit ja kulutus. Sosiologia 1998;35:92–103.

Istvan J, Matarazzo JD. Tobacco, alcohol, and caffeine use: a review of their interrelationships. Psychological Bulletin 1984;95:301–326.

Jalkanen L, Tuomilehto J, Tanskanen A, Puska P. Accuracy of self-reported body weight compared to measured body weight. A population survey. Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine 1987;15:191–198.

Jebb SA, Moore MS. Contribution of a sedentary lifestyle and inactivity to the etiology of overweight and obesity: current evidence and research issues. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 1999;31:S534–541.

Johansson L, Andersen L. Who eats 5 a day?: intake of fruits and vegetables among Norwegians in relation to gender and lifestyle. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 1998;98:689–691.

Johansson SE, Sundquist J. Change in lifestyle factors and their influence on health status and all-cause mortality. International Journal of Epidemiology 1999;28:1073–1080.

Johnson N, Boyle C, Heller R. Leisure-time physical activity and other health behaviours: are they related? Australian Journal of Public Health 1995;19:69–75.

Jones L, Sidell M (eds.). The challenge of promoting health: exploration and action. London: Macmillan, 1997.

Jousilahti P, Vartiainen E, Tuomilehto J, Puska P. Twenty-year dynamics of serum cholesterol levels in the middle-aged population of eastern Finland. Annals of Internal Medicine 1996;125:713–722.

Kannas L. The dimensions of health behaviour among young men in Finland. International Journal of Health Education 1981;14:146–155.

Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M. A prospective study of psychological and socioeconomic characteristics, health behavior and morbidity in cigarette smokers prior to quitting compared to persistent smokers and non-smokers. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 1988;41:139–150.

Karisto A. Hyvinvointi ja sairauden ongelma: Suomea ja muita Pohjoismaita vertaileva tutkimus sairastavuuden väestöryhmittäisistä eroista ja sairaudesta hyvinvoinnin vajeena. Väitöskirja, Helsingin yliopisto, Sosiaalipolitiikan laitos. Kansaneläkelaitoksen julkaisuja M:46, Helsinki, 1984.

Karisto A. Elämäntapa ja terveys – poimintoja tutkimuksesta. Sosiaalilääketieteellinen Aikakauslehti 1989;26:273–279.

Karisto A, Prättälä R, Berg MA. The good, the bad and the ugly. Differences and changes in health related lifestyles. In: Kjaernes U, Holm L, Ekström M, Füsso E, Prättälä R (eds.). Regulating markets – Regulating people. On food and nutrition policy. Oslo: Novus, 1993, pp. 185–204.

Karvonen S. The regional context of health behaviour among Finnish adolescents. Doctoral thesis, University of Helsinki, Department of Sociology. STAKES Research reports 76, Helsinki, 1997.

Kasl S, Cobb S. Health behaviour, illness behaviour and sick-role behaviour. Archives of Environmental Health 1966;12:246–266, 531–241.

Keski-Karhu J. Vastauskadon mallintaminen logistisen regression ja uusintakyselyjen avulla. Pro gradu -tutkielma, Joensuun yliopisto, Tilastotieteen laitos. Joensuu, 1998.

Kickbusch I. New perspectives for research in health behaviour. In: Anderson R, Davis J, Kickbush I, McQueen D, Turner J (eds.). Health behaviour research and health promotion. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988, pp. 237–243.

King NA. The relationship between physical activity and food intake. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 1998;57:77–84.

Klesges RC, Klesges LM, Haddock CK, Eck LH. A longitudinal analysis of the impact of dietary intake and physical activity on weight change in adults. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1992;55:818–822.

Klesges RC, Meyers AW, Klesges LM, La Vasque ME. Smoking, body weight, and their effects on smoking behavior: a comprehensive review of the literature. Psychological Bulletin 1989;106:204–230.

Klesges RC, Winders SE, Meyers AW, Eck LH, Ward KD, Hultquist CM, Ray JW, Shadish WR. How much weight gain occurs following smoking cessation? A comparison of weight gain using both continuous and point prevalence abstinence. Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology 1997;65:286–291.

Knoke D. Log-linear models. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage, 1981.

Krick JP, Sobal J. Relationships between health protective behaviours. Journal of Community Health 1990;15:19–34.

Kritchevsky D, Bonfield C (eds.). Dietary fiber in health and disease. New York: Plenum Press, 1997.

Kromhout D, Menotti A, Bloemberg B, Aravanis C, Blackburn H, Buzina R, Dontas AS, Fidanza F, Giampaoli S, Jansen A, Karvonen M, Katan M, Nissinen A, Nedeljkovic S, Pekkanen J, Pekkarinen M, Punsar S, Räsänen L, Simic B, Toshima H. Dietary saturated and trans fatty acids and cholesterol and 25-year mortality from coronary heart disease: the Seven Countries Study. Preventive Medicine 1995;24:308–315.

Kronenfeld JJ, Goodyear N, Pate R, Blair A, Howe H, Parker G, Blair SN. The interrelationship among preventive health habits. Health Education Research 1988;3:317–323.

Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM, Campbell SM, Johnson CL. Increasing prevalence of overweight among US adults. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 1960 to 1991. JAMA 1994;272:205–211.

Kuskowska-Wolk A, Bergström R, Boström G. Relationship between questionnaire data and medical records of height, weight and body mass index. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1992;16:1–9.

La Vecchia C, Negri E, Franceschi S, Parazzini F, Decarli A. Differences in dietary intake with smoking, alcohol, and education. Nutrition & Cancer 1992;17:297–304.

Laaksonen M, Rahkonen O, Prättälä R. Smoking status and relative weight by educational level in Finland 1978–1995. Preventive Medicine 1998;27:431–437.

Laaksonen M, Uutela A, Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Helakorpi S, Puska P. Development of smoking by birth cohort in the adult population in eastern Finland 1972–97. Tobacco Control 1999;8:161–168.

Laatikainen T, Vartiainen E, Puska P. Comparing smoking and smoking cessation process in the Republic of Karelia, Russia and North Karelia, Finland. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1999;53:528–534.

Lahelma E, Rahkonen O, Berg MA, Helakorpi S, Prättälä R, Puska P, Uutela A. Changes in health status and health behaviour among Finnish adults 1978–1993. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 1997;23:85–90.

Langlie JK. Interrelationships among preventive health behaviors: a test of competing hypotheses. Public Health Reports 1979;94:216–225.

Leischow SJ, Stitzer ML. Smoking cessation and weight gain. British Journal of Addiction 1991;86:577–581.

Liang W, Shediac-Rizkallah MC, Celentano DD, Rohde C. A population-based study of age and gender differences in patterns of health-related behaviors. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1999;17:8–17.

Luoto R, Helakorpi S, Uutela A. Lama ja terveys. Aikuisväestön terveyskäyttäytyminen (AVTK)-aineiston 7-vuotisseurantatutkimus 1989/90–1997. Tutkimuksen toteutus ja perustaulukot. Helsinki: Kansanterveyslaitos, 1999.

Luoto R, Poikolainen K, Uutela A. Unemployment, sociodemographic background and consumption of alcohol before and during the economic recession of the 1990s in Finland. International Journal of Epidemiology 1998;27:623–629.

Luoto R, Prättälä R, Uutela A, Puska P. Impact of unhealthy behaviors on cardiovascular mortality in Finland, 1978–1993. Preventive Medicine 1998;27:93–100.

Lupton D. Consumerism, commodity, culture and health promotion. Health Promotion International 1994;9:111–118.

Lüschen G, Niemann S. Health life-style and social stratification. In: Lüschen G, Cockerham WC, van der Zee J, Stevens F, Diericks J, Garcia Ferrando M, d'Houtaud A, Peeters R, Abel T, Niemann S (eds.). Health systems in the European Union. Diversity, convergence, and integration. München: Oldenbourg, 1995, pp. 101–112.

Lööv T, Miegel F. The notion of lifestyle. Some theoretical contributions. Nordicom Review of Nordic Mass Communication Research 1990;1:21–31.

Ma J, Hampl JS, Betts NM. Antioxidant intakes and smoking status: data from the continuing survey of food intakes by individuals 1994–1996. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2000;71:774–780.

MacDonald G, Bunton R. Health promotion. Discipline or disciplines? In: Bunton R, MacDonald G (eds.). Health promotion. Disciplines and diversity. London: Routledge, 1992, pp. 6–19.

Macintyre S. The Black Report and beyond: what are the issues? Social Science & Medicine 1997;44:723–45.

Macintyre S, MacIver S, Sooman A. Area, class and health: should we be focusing on places or people? Journal of Social Policy 1993;22:213–34.

Maffesoli M. The time of the tribes. The decline of individualism in mass society. London: Sage, 1996.

Marangon K, Herbeth B, Lecomte E, Paul-Dauphin A, Grolier P, Chancerelle Y, Artur Y, Siest G. Diet, antioxidant status, and smoking habits in French men. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1998;67:231–239.

Marti B, Pekkanen J, Nissinen A, Ketola A, Kivelä SL, Punsar S, Karvonen MJ. Association of physical activity with coronary risk factors and physical ability: twenty-year follow-up of a cohort of Finnish men. Age & Ageing 1989;18:103–109.

Marti B, Salonen J, Tuomilehto J, Puska P. 10-year trends in physical activity in the eastern Finnish adult population. Relationship to socioeconomic status and lifestyle characteristics. Acta Medica Scandinavica 1988;224:195–203.

Marti B, Vartiainen E. Relation between leisure time exercise and cardiovascular risk factors among 15-year-olds in eastern Finland. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1989;43:228–233.

Martínez-González MA, Martínez JA, Hu FB, Gibney MJ, Kearney J. Physical inactivity, sedentary lifestyle and obesity in the European Union. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1999;23:1192–1201.

Matthews CE, Hebert JR, Ockene IS, Saperia G, Merriam PA. Relationship between leisure-time physical activity and selected dietary variables in the Worcester Area Trial for Counseling in Hyperlipidemia. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 1997;29:1199–1207.

McGinnis JM, Foege WH. Actual causes of death in the United States. JAMA 1993;270:2207–2212.

McQueen DV. A research programme in lifestyle and health: methodological and theoretical considerations. Revue d'Epidemiologie et de Santé Publique 1987;35:28–35.

Mela DJ. Eating behaviour, food preferences and dietary intake in relation to obesity and body-weight status. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 1996;55:803–816.

Meng L, Maskarinec G, Lee J, Kolonel LN. Lifestyle factors and chronic diseases: application of a composite risk index. Preventive Medicine 1999;29:296–304.

Miilunpalo S, Urponen H, Vuori I. Elintapojen kasautuminen ja siihen yhteydessä olevat tekijät. In: Laine K (ed.). Terveyskasvatustutkimuksen vuosikirja 1984. Lääkintöhallituksen julkaisuja. Terveyskasvatus. Tutkimukset 5/1984. Helsinki: Lääkintöhallitus, 1984, pp. 81–94.

Molarius A, Seidell JC. Differences in the association between smoking and relative body weight by level of education. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1997;21:189–196.

Molarius A, Seidell JC, Kuulasmaa K, Dobson AJ, Sans S. Smoking and relative body weight: an international perspective from the WHO MONICA Project. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1997;51:252–260.

Morabia A, Curtin F, Bernstein MS. Effects of smoking and smoking cessation on dietary habits of a Swiss urban population. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1999;53:239–243.

Mulder M, Ranchor AV, Sanderman R, Bouma J, van den Heuvel WJ. The stability of lifestyle behaviour. International Journal of Epidemiology 1998;27:199–207.

Murray CJL, Lopez AD. The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1996.

Mustonen H, Metso L, Paakkanen P, Simpura J, Kaivonurmi M. Finnish drinking habits 1968, 1976, 1984, 1992 and 1996: tables and the list of publications based on Finnish drinking habit surveys. Helsinki: STAKES, 1999.

Männistö S, Pietinen P, Haukka J, Ovaskainen ML, Albanes D, Virtamo J. Reported alcohol intake, diet and body mass index in male smokers. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1996;50:239–245.

Männistö S, Uusitalo K, Roos E, Fogelholm M, Pietinen P. Alcohol beverage drinking, diet and body mass index in a cross-sectional survey. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1997;51:326–332.

Nelson GJ. Dietary fat, trans fatty acids, and risk of coronary heart disease. Nutrition Reviews 1998;56:250–252.

Ness AR, Powles JW. Fruit and vegetables, and cardiovascular disease: a review. International Journal of Epidemiology 1997;26:1–13.

Noack H. The role of socio-structural factors in health behaviour. In: Anderson R, Davis J, Kickbush I, McQueen DV, Turner J (eds.). Health behaviour research and health promotion. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1988, pp. 53–68.

Norman RM. Studies of the interrelationships amongst health behaviours. Canadian Journal of Public Health 1985;76:407–410.

O'Brien M. Health and lifestyle: a critical mess? Notes on dedifferentation of health. In: Bunton R, Nettleton S, Burrows R (eds.). The sociology of health promotion. London: Routledge, 1995, pp. 191–205.

Oleckno W, Blacconiere M. A multiple discriminant analysis of smoking status and health-related attitudes and behaviours. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1990;6:323–329.

Osler M, Prescott E. Psychosocial, behavioural, and health determinants of successful smoking cessation: a longitudinal study of Danish adults. Tobacco Control 1998;7:262–267.

Osler M, Prescott E, Godtfredsen N, Hein HO, Schnohr P. Gender and determinants of smoking cessation: a longitudinal study. Preventive Medicine 1999;29:57–62.

Patrick DL, Cheadle A, Thompson DC, Diehr P, Koepsell T, Kinne S. The validity of self-reported smoking: a review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Public Health 1994;84:1086–1093.

Patterson RE, Haines PS, Popkin BM. Health lifestyle patterns of U.S. adults. Preventive Medicine 1994;23:453–460.

Perkins K, Rohay J, Meilahn E, Wing R, Matthews K, Kuller L. Diet, alcohol and physical activity as a function of smoking status in middle-aged women. Health Psychology 1993;12:410–415.

Perkins KA. Effects of tobacco smoking on caloric intake. British Journal of Addiction 1992;87:193–205.

Perkins KA. Weight gain following smoking cessation. Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology 1993;61:768–777.

Petridou E, Zavitsanos X, Dessypris N, Frangakis C, Mandyla M, Doxiadis S, Trichopoulos D. Adolescents in high-risk trajectory: clustering of risky behavior and the origins of socioeconomic health differentials. Preventive Medicine 1997;26:215–219.

Piispa M. Valistus, holhous, suojelu: tutkimus alkoholipoliittisesta ja tupakka-poliittisesta mielipideilmastosta. Väitöskirja, Tampereen yliopisto, Sosiologian ja sosiaalipsykologian laitos. Acta Universitatis Tamperensis 564, Tampere, 1997.

Pill R, Peters TJ, Robling MR. Social class and preventive health behaviour: a British example. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1995;49:28–32.

Poikolainen K. Alcohol and mortality: a review. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 1995;48:455–465.

Pomerleau J, Pederson LL, Ostbye T, Speechley M, Speechley KN. Health behaviours and socio-economic status in Ontario, Canada. European Journal of Epidemiology 1997;13:613–622.

Prentice AM, Jebb SA. Obesity in Britain: gluttony or sloth? BMJ 1995;311:437–439.

Prevost AT, Whichelow MJ, Cox BD. Longitudinal dietary changes between 1984–5 and 1991–2 in British adults: association with socio-demographic, lifestyle and health factors. British Journal of Nutrition 1997;78:873–888.

Prättälä R, Forssas E, Koskinen S, Sihto M. Eriarvoisuus ja terveyden edistäminen – suomalaisten terveyskäyttäytymisinterventioiden arviointia. Sosiaalilääketieteellinen Aikakauslehti 1999;36:296–300.

Prättälä R, Karisto A, Berg MA. Consistency and variation in unhealthy behaviour among Finnish men, 1982–1990. Social Science & Medicine 1994;39:115–122.

Prättälä R, Laaksonen M, Rahkonen O. Smoking and unhealthy food habits – how stable is the association? European Journal of Public Health 1998;8:28–33.

Rahkonen O. Terveydentila ja terveyskäyttäytyminen. Sukupuoli- ja sosiaaliluokkaerot nuorissa ikäryhmissä. Väitöskirja, Helsingin yliopisto, Sosiaalipolitiikan laitos. STAKES Tutkimuksia 36, Helsinki, 1994. Raitakari OT, Leino M, Räikkonen K, Porkka KV, Taimela S, Räsänen L, Viikari JS. Clustering of risk habits in young adults. The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 1995;142:36–44.

Rakowski W. Preventive health behaviour and health maintenance practices of older adults. In: Dean K, Hickey T, Holstein BE (eds.). Self care and health in old age. London: Croom Helm, 1986, pp. 94–129.

Rimpelä M, Eskola A, Paronen O. Terveystapojen keskinäisistä yhteyksistä. Sosiaalilääketieteellinen Aikakauslehti 1978;15:341–345.

Rissanen A, Heliövaara M, Aromaa A, Knekt P, Reunanen A, Maatela J, Impivaara O. Liikapainoisuuden ja lihomisen esiintyminen ja taustatekijät Suomessa. Suomen Lääkärilehti 1989;44:2891–2898.

Rissanen A, Heliövaara M, Knekt P, Reunanen A, Aromaa A. Determinants of weight gain and overweight in adult Finns. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1991;45:419–430.

Rolls BJ, Shide DJ. The influence of dietary fat on food intake and body weight. Nutrition Reviews 1992;50:283–290.

Roos E, Ovaskainen ML, Pietinen P. Validity and comparison of three saturated fat indices. Scandinavian Journal of Nutrition 1995;39:55–59.

Roos JP. Piirteitä elämäntavan tutkimisesta. In: Roos JP. Elämäntapaa etsimässä. Helsinki: Tutkijaliitto, 1985.

Roos JP. Liikunta ja elämäntapa: nautintoa vai itsekuria. Jyväskylä: Jyväskylän yliopisto, 1989.

Rose G. The strategy of preventive medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1992.

Rotevatn S, Akslen LA, Bjelke E. Lifestyle and mortality among Norwegian men. Preventive Medicine 1989;18:433–443.

Rothman K. Modern epidemiology. Boston, MA: Little, Brown and Company, 1986.

RUHBC (Research Unit in Health and Behavioural Change, University of Edinburgh). Changing the public health. London: John Wiley & Sons, 1989.

Sallis JF, Haskell WL, Fortmann SP, Vranizan KM, Taylor CB, Solomon DS. Predictors of adoption and maintenance of physical activity in a community sample. Preventive Medicine 1986;15:331–341.

Sallis JF, Hovell MF, Hofstetter CR. Predictors of adoption and maintenance of vigorous physical activity in men and women. Preventive Medicine 1992;21:237–251.

SAS Institute Inc. SAS/STAT User's Guide. Version 6. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., 1989.

Segovia J, Bartlett RF, Edwards AC. Health status and health practices – Alameda and beyond. International Journal of Epidemiology 1991;20:259–263.

Serdula MK, Byers T, Mokdad AH, Simoes E, Mendlein JM, Coates RJ. The association between fruit and vegetable intake and chronic disease risk factors. Epidemiology 1996;7:161–165.

Shiffman S, Balabanis M. Associations between alcohol and tobacco. In: Fertig JB, Allen JP (eds.). Alcohol and tobacco: From basic science to clinical practice. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Research Monograph No 30. National Institutes of Health, 1995, pp. 17–36.

Simoes EJ, Byers T, Coates RJ, Serdula MK, Mokdad AH, Heath GW. The association between leisure-time physical activity and dietary fat in American adults. American Journal of Public Health 1995;85:240–244.

Simpura J, Leppänen K, Metso L, Mustonen H, Österberg E. Paljonko Suomi juo? Alkoholin kokonaiskulutustason selvittäminen vaikeutunut. Alkoholipolitiikka 1997;62:101–112.

Slater CH, Linder SH. A reassessment of the additive scoring of health practices. Medical Care 1988;26:1216–1227.

Slater M, Flora J. Health lifestyles: audience segmentation analysis for public health interventions. Health Education Quarterly 1991;18:221–233.

Smith C, Nutbeam D. Assessing non-response bias: a case study from the 1985 Welsh Hearth Health Survey. Heath Education Research 1990;5:381–386.

Sobal J, Revicki D, DeForge B. Patterns of interrelationship among health-promotion behaviors. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1992;8:351–359.

Sobel ME. Lifestyle and social structure: concepts, definitions, analyses. New York: Academic Press, 1981.

STAKES (National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health). Intoxicants statistical yearbook 1999. Alcohol and drugs. Helsinki: STAKES, 1999.

Steinmetz KA, Potter JD. Vegetables, fruit, and cancer prevention: a review. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 1996;96:1027–1039.

Stephens T. Health practices and health status: evidence from the Canada Health Survey. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1986;2:209–215.

Steptoe A, Wardle J, Fuller R, Holte A, Justo J, Sanderman R, Wichstrom L. Leisure-time physical exercise: prevalence, attitudinal correlates, and behavioral correlates among young Europeans from 21 countries. Preventive Medicine 1997;26:845–854.

Stott NC, Pill R. Making changes: a study of working-class mothers and the changes in their health related behaviour over 5 years. Cardiff: University of Wales College of Medicine, 1992.

Stronks K, van de Mheen H, Looman C, Mackenbach J. Behavioural and structural factors in the explanation of socio-economic inequalities in health: an empirical analysis. Sociology of Health and Illness 1996;18:653–674.

Suter PM, Hasler E, Vetter W. Effects of alcohol on energy metabolism and body weight regulation: is alcohol a risk factor for obesity? Nutrition Reviews 1997;55:157–171.

Svardsudd K. Moderate alcohol consumption and cardiovascular disease: is there evidence for a preventive effect? Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research 1998;22:S307–314.

Tapp J, Godenthal P. A factor analytic study of health habits. Preventive Medicine 1982;11:724–728.

Theobald H, Bygren LO, Carstensen J, Engfeldt P. Validity of two questions on alcohol use in a health survey questionnaire. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 1999;27:73–77.

Thompson RL, Margetts BM, Wood DA, Jackson AA. Cigatterre smoking and food and nutrient intakes in relation to coronary hearth disease. Nutritional Research Reviews 1992;5:131–152.

Thorogood N. What is the relevance of sociology for health promotion? In: Bunton R, MacDonald G (eds.). Health promotion. Disciplines and diversity. London: Routledge, 1992, pp. 42–65.

Tremblay A, Doucet E, Imbeault P. Physical activity and weight maintenance. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1999;23:S50–54.

Töttö P. Pirullinen positivismi: kysymyksiä laadulliselle tutkimukselle. Jyväskylä: Jyväskylän yliopisto, 1997.

Umberson D. Gender, marital status and the social control of health behavior. Social Science & Medicine 1992;34:907–17.

Ungemack JA. Patterns of personal health practice: men and women in the United States. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 1994;10:38–44.

Waldron I. Gender and health related behavior. In: Gochman DS (ed.). Health behavior: emerging research perspectives. New York: Plenum Press, 1988, pp. 198–208.

Van Zant RS. Influence of diet and exercise on energy expenditure – a review. International Journal of Sport Nutrition 1992;2:1–19.

Wankel L, Sefton J. Physical activity and other lifestyle behaviours. In: Bouchard C, Stephard R, Stephens T (eds.). Physical activity, fitness and health. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1994, pp. 530–550.

Warde A. Consumption, food and taste: culinary antinomies and commodity culture. London: Sage, 1997.

Watson J, Platt S. Connecting policy and practice. In: Watson J, Platt S (eds.). Researching health promotion. London: Routledge, 2000, pp. 1–22.

Veal AJ. The concept of lifestyle: a review. Leisure Studies 1993;12:233-252.

Weber M. Economy and society: an outline of interpretive sociology. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1978 (1922).

Veenstra J, Schenkel JA, van Erp-Baart AM, Brants HA, Hulshof KF, Kistemaker C, Schaafsma G, Ockhuizen T. Alcohol consumption in relation to food intake and smoking habits in the Dutch National Food Consumption Survey. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1993;47:482–489.

Whichelow MJ. Choice of spread by a random sample of the British population. Association with socio-economic status and risk factors for cardiovascular disease. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1989;43:1–10.

WHO. Life-styles and health. Social Science & Medicine 1986;22:117–124.

WHO. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1998.

WHO. World Health Report 1998. Life in the 21st century. A Vision for all. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1998.

Vickers RR, Jr., Conway TL, Hervig LK. Demonstration of replicable dimensions of health behaviors. Preventive Medicine 1990;19:377–401.

Wiley JA, Camacho TC. Life-style and future health: evidence from the Alameda County study. Preventive Medicine 1980;9:1–21.

Williams SJ. Theorising class, health and lifestyles: can Bourdieu help us? Sociology of Health and Illness 1995;17:577–604.

Williamson DF. Dietary intake and physical activity as "predictors" of weight gain in observational, prospective studies of adults. Nutrition Reviews 1996;54:S101–109.

Williamson DF, Madans J, Anda RF, Kleinman JC, Giovino GA, Byers T. Smoking cessation and severity of weight gain in a national cohort. New England Journal of Medicine 1991;324:739–745.

Williamson DF, Madans J, Anda RF, Kleinman JC, Kahn HS, Byers T. Recreational physical activity and ten-year weight change in a US national cohort. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders 1993;17:279–286.

Wilmore JH. Increasing physical activity: alterations in body mass and composition. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1996;63:S456–460.

Wingard DL, Berkman LF, Brand RJ. A multivariate analysis of health-related practices: a nine-year mortality follow-up of the Alameda County Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 1982;116:765–775.

Wold B. Lifestyles and physical activity. A theoretical and empirical analysis of socialisation among children and adolescents. Doctoral thesis, University of Bergen, Faculty of Psychology. Bergen, 1989.

Wynne D. Leisure, lifestyle and the new middle class: a case study. London: Routledge, 1998.

Zelasko CJ. Exercise for weight loss: what are the facts? Journal of the American Dietetic Association 1995;95:1414–1417.